University of Texas Rio Grande Valley ScholarWorks @ UTRGV

Theses and Dissertations

7-2022

Cucurbitacin B: A Potential Natural Agent for Targeting Tumor Immune Cell Population

Emmanuel Anning The University of Texas Rio Grande Valley

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.utrgv.edu/etd

Part of the Biochemistry, Biophysics, and Structural Biology Commons

Recommended Citation

Anning, Emmanuel, "Cucurbitacin B: A Potential Natural Agent for Targeting Tumor Immune Cell Population" (2022). *Theses and Dissertations*. 1011. https://scholarworks.utrgv.edu/etd/1011

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by ScholarWorks @ UTRGV. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ UTRGV. For more information, please contact justin.white@utrgv.edu, william.flores01@utrgv.edu.

CUCURBITACIN B: A POTENTIAL NATURAL

AGENT FOR TARGETING TUMOR

IMMUNE CELL POPULATION

A Thesis

by

EMMANUEL ANNING

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Major Subject: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology

The University of Texas Rio Grande Valley

July 2022

CUCURBITACIN B: A POTENTIAL NATURAL

AGENT FOR TARGETING TUMOR

IMMUNE CELL POPULATION

A Thesis by EMMANUEL ANNING

COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Dr. Bilal Bin Hafeez Chair of Committee

Dr. Manish Tripathi Committee Member

Dr. Dae Joon Kim Committee Member

Dr. Nirakar Sahoo Committee Member

July 2022

Copyright 2022 Emmanuel Anning All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Anning, Emmanuel, <u>Cucurbitacin B: a potential natural agent for targeting tumor immune cell</u> population. Master of Science (MS), July 2022, 56 pp., 2 tables, 11 figures, references, 128 titles.

Immune checkpoint blockade (PD1, PDL-1 and CTLA-4) immunotherapies have emerged as the breakthrough in cancer treatment. However, some malignancies show marginal response. One factor that influences the efficacy of immunotherapy is the development of immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment (TME), caused by infiltration of myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) and tumor associated macrophages (TAM) into the tumor, facilitating metastatic tumor growth and immunotherapy resistance. We have identified Cucurbitacin B (Cuc. B), a potent small molecule that targets TAM and MDSCs and inhibits Stat3, CSF-1R, and PI3Kγ signaling axis at lower doses compared to the pharmacological inhibitor of PI3Kγ (IPI-549). IL-4 polarization of TAM caused a loss of the phagocytic capacity which we observed to be restored by Cuc. B treatment. Cuc. B treatment also inhibited the expression of PDL-1 in TAMs. Taken together, our results suggest that Cuc. B has the potential to reprogram TAM and MDSCs *via* targeting Stat3, CSF-1R, and PI3Kγ. Therefore, Cuc B could be a novel therapeutic modality in improving tumor immunity and checkpoint blockade PD-1/CTLA-4 immunotherapy against non-responsive malignancies.

DEDICATION

To God be the glory, great things He has done. Dedication to the Anning family.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am most grateful to my mentor Dr. Bilal Hafeez, for his guidance, advice, resources and tremendous support throughout my Master's program. Special thanks also to my committee members: Dr. Dae Joon Kim, Dr. Manish Tripathi and Dr. Nirakar Sahoo for their support and advice throughout my thesis. I am most grateful for the support from the members of Dr. Hafeez's lab, Carlos Perez, Paola Ibarra, and most especially, Dr. Mudassier Ahmad for his technical advice throughout my research. To other members of the immunology and microbiology department, Godwin Peasah-Darkwah, Poornima Shaji, Anyssa Rodriguez, Ana Martinez-Bulnes, Nycol Cotto, Omar Karkoutly, Samantha Lopez, Melida Flores, Andrea Lopez and the many others who assisted me directly or indirectly during my project. Special thanks to Mehdi Chaib, Dr. Neeraj Chauhan, Dr. Kyle Doxtater and Dr Sudhir Kotnala for their assistance and technical advice during my research. I would also like to express my gratitude to Dr. Subhash Chauhan, the department chair of the immunology and Microbiology department and his administrative assistants, Gerardo Pequeno and Dr. Iliana Bernice Guardiola Avila for ensuring the timely availability of resources for my experiment.

A heartfelt gratitude to my mother and father, Mr. Emmanuel Anning and Mrs. Charlotte Wilson, my siblings, Michael Anning and Veronica Affram and most especially my girlfriend Estella Acheampong for their relentless support throughout my pursuit of this degree.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ABSTRACT	iii
DEDICATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Statement of the Problem	1
1.2 Statement of the Purpose	2
CHAPTER II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	3
2.1 Cancer and Cancer Epidemiology	
2.2 Tumor Microenvironment (TME)	4
2.3 Current Cancer Therapies	
2.4 Cucurbitacin B.	
2.5 Key Molecular Targets of Cuc. B	
CHAPTER III. MATERIALS AND METHODS	21
3.1 Cell lines, reagents, and treatments	
3.2 MTT Assay	
3.2 Endotoxin Assay	
3.4 In-vitro isolation of BMDMs from murine bone marrow	
3.5 In-vitro differentiation of MDSCs from murine bone marrow	
3.6 Western immunoblot analysis	
3.7 Quantitative real time PCR (qRT-PCR)	
3.8 Immunofluorescence Assay	
3.9 In-vitro phagocytosis and killing assays	

3.10 Statistical Methods	25
CHAPTER IV. RESULTS	.26
4.1 Cuc. B exhibits a dose-dependent antiproliferative effect on Raw 264.7 cells	26
4.2 Cuc. B batch used was devoid of endotoxin contamination	27
4.3 BMDMs and MDSCs were successfully generated form murine one marrow	28
4.4 Cuc. B treatment restores the phagocytic capacity of TAMs	30
4.5 Cuc. B abrogates M2 polarization of macrophages and promotes M1-like phenotype .	31
4.6 Cuc. B has more potential in targeting TAMs compared to IPI-549	32
4.7 Cuc. B suppresses bone marrow derived MDSCs activity in-vitro	36
CHAPTER V. DISCUSSION	.37
CHAPTER VI. CONCLUSION	.39
REFERENCES	40
APPENDIX	.55
BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH	.56

LIST OF TABLES

	Page
Table 1: Table showing the respective absorbances and corresponding endotoxin concentrations	
of LAL standard samples and Cuc. B	27
Table 2: List of items with their respective manufacturers and catalogue numbers	54

LIST OF FIGURES

Page
Figure 1.1: Schematic representation of the interplay between components of the tumor
microenvironment and tumor cells:9
Figure 1.2: Structure and images of the botanical sources of Cucurbitacin B 17
Figure 3.1 Cuc. B treatment exhibits cytotoxic effect on Raw 264.7 cells:
Figure 3.2: Cuc. B has no endotoxin contamination:
Figure 3.3: Schematic representation of steps for the <i>in-vitro</i> generation of BMDM and MDSC
from murine macrophages
Figure 3.4: Representative images of <i>in-vitro</i> generation and treatment of BMDMs and MDSCs
from mouse bone marrow
Figure 3.5: Cuc. B promotes the phagocytic capacity in macrophages <i>in-vitro</i> :
Figure 3.6: Cuc. B inhibits M2 polarization of BMDM and promotes M1-like phenotype <i>in-vitro</i> :
Figure 3.7: Cuc. B inhibits M2 polarization of Raw 264.7 M1-like phenotype <i>in-vitro</i> :
Figure 3.8: Cuc. B shows TAM suppressive effect comparable to PI3Ky inhibitor, IPI-549: 35
Figure 3.9: Cuc. Suppresses MDSC activity <i>in-vitro</i> :

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Statement of the Problem

The incidence of cancer is on the ascendency with an estimation of 1.9 million new cases and an estimated cancer-related death of 609,360 in the United States for the year 2022. On the world scale, nearly 10 million cancer-related mortalities and about 20 million cases were recorded in the year 2020 (Siegel et al. 2022). Although there has been an insurgence of new therapeutic modalities for the management of cancer, resistance to cancer therapy remains a bane of successful cancer therapeutics (Ahmad 2013; Gatenby and Brown 2020; Quagliano, Gopalakrishnapillai, and Barwe 2020). The state of Texas alone has estimated new cases of 129,770 with an estimated death of 41, 810. The 5-year survival rate for all cancers is 67%, and solid tumors such as pancreatic, liver, and intrahepatic bile duct cancer remain low at 11% and 20 % respectively (Siegel et al. 2022).

Despite the breakthroughs presented by the emergence of immune checkpoint blockade (i.e. PDL-1 (programmed death-ligand 1), PD-1R (programmed death-1 receptor), CTLA-4 (cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4)) immunotherapies, various solid tumors such as pancreatic and liver cancers show only a marginal response (Ribas and Wolchok 2018; Sangro et al. 2021; Yang 2015; Yap et al. 2021). A key component that has been identified to contribute to the attenuation of the efficacy of immunotherapy is the development of an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment (TME) (Petitprez et al. 2020). Upon infiltration of tumor immune cell

populations such as the myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) and tumor associated macrophages (TAM) into the tumor sites, various mechanisms are initiated which culminate in metastatic tumor growth and also contribute to immunotherapy resistance(Gabrilovich 2017; Noy and Pollard 2014). Therefore, small molecules which have the capacity to target various immune cell populations in the tumor microenvironment such as MDSCs, and TAM could be used in enhancing checkpoint blockade immunotherapy response and by extension, enhance tumor immunity against non-responsive tumors.

1.2 Statement of the Purpose

In this study, we have selected a very potent small molecule Cucurbitacin B (Cuc. B) which targets STAT3, CSF-1R, and PI3K γ at lower doses compared to existing specific small molecule inhibitors (Xu et al. 2020; Zhou et al. 2017). Various studies have suggested its potent chemopreventive and chemotherapeutic efficacy alone or in combination with chemotherapeutic drugs against various types of cancers (Garg, Kaul, and Wadhwa 2018; Luo et al. 2019; Mao et al. 2019). However, no study has explored the effect of Cuc. B tumor immunity in cancer. Our novel observations provided us with strong evidence that Cuc. B reprograms TAMs and MDSCs *via* targeting STAT3, CSF-1R, and PI3K γ and these pathways have been shown to induce immunosuppression in various cancers (Han et al. 2021; Valero et al. 2021; Zou et al. 2020). By employing the use of *in-vitro* culture systems, we propose the M1 phenotype promotion of Cuc. B with a concomitant abrogation of M2 phenotype. On the premise of this compelling evidence, we hypothesize that, Cuc. B treatment could be a novel therapeutic modality in improving tumor immune surveillance and improving checkpoint blockade PD-1/CTLA-4 immunotherapy against non-responsive malignancies.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

2.1 Cancer and Cancer Epidemiology

Cancer is a malignancy characterized by uncontrolled growth of cells due to either the inactivation of tumor suppressors or the activation of protooncogenes, where the cells lose their functional features and have the tendency of invading other sites to cause deleterious health effects (Garg et al. 2018). As rightly discussed in their review, "the hallmarks of cancer", Hanahan & Weinberg (2000) described the six cardinal qualities of cancers namely; limitless replicative potential, evading apoptosis, sustained angiogenesis, insensitivity to anti-growth signals, self-sufficiency in growth signals and tissue invasion and metastasis. Currently, cancer remains the world's leading cause of mortality with nearly 10 million cancer-related deaths and about 20 million new cases have been recorded worldwide in 2020 (Sung et al. 2021). There are an estimated 1.9 million new cases and 609,360 cancer-related deaths in the United States alone for the year 2022 (Siegel et al. 2022). Despite the improving 5-year survival rate for all combined cancers which currently stands at 67%, solid tumors such as pancreatic, liver, and intrahepatic bile duct cancer remain low at 11% and 20 % respectively.

Cancer risk factors are multifaceted, ranging from environmental factors such as air pollution, and exposure to ultraviolet and ionizing radiation, to lifestyles such as tobacco

smoking, alcohol intake, infection like the H. pylori infection, hepatitis (B and C) virus, and other infections and carcinogenic exposures (Sung et al. 2021)

2.2 Tumor Microenvironment (TME)

The TME represents various cell types and structures located within the tumor niche that evolve with the tumor cells and promote the development and growth of the tumor (Junttila and de Sauvage 2013). Within the TME are vascular networks which are produced in response to signals from the tumor, fibroblasts for the maintenance of tissue structural framework, and immune cells such as neutrophils, dendritic cells, T-cells, and monocytes as well as signaling molecules produced by both the tumor and normal cells (Junttila and de Sauvage 2013). Primarily the TME and the tumor cells have bidirectional communication to promote both normal cellular and tissue homeostasis as well as the growth and development of the tumor cells (Quail and Joyce 2013).

Studies have shown that the TME composition changes constantly and this dynamism stems from the changes in the environmental conditions as well as varying oncogenic signals which ensue as the tumor progresses. These changes result in the evolution of the microenvironment toward a pro-tumorigenic state while disrupting the normal cellular interaction within healthy normal adult tissues (Quail and Joyce 2013). During carcinogenesis, immune components such as macrophages and fibroblasts inhibit the growth of immune components of the tumor cells. As the tumor develops, these immune components are then polarized into phenotypes *via* the synthesis of cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, and proteases that have pro-tumorigenic roles which include but are not limited to tumor growth,

invasion of cancer cells, and angiogenesis (Denton, Roberts, and Fearon 2018; Hanahan and Weinberg 2011).

Hypoxia is one of the major hallmarks of the TME and facilitates the growth and metastasis of tumors. Within the developing tumor, there is acute vascular collapse secondary to high interstitial pressure and immature blood vessel formation which culminates in TME hypoxia (Horsman et al. 2012). The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is one of the proangiogenic cytokines produced by tumor cells to promote angiogenesis under low nutrient and hypoxic conditions which is very typical of the TME (Claesson-Welsh and Welsh 2013). Aside from promoting tumorigenesis, the TME also plays a pivotal role in therapy resistance (Shree et al. 2011; Vitale et al. 2019). The subsequent paragraphs highlight some components of the TME.

2.2.1 Tumor Associated Macrophages (TAMs)

Macrophages are key components of the innate immune system that facilitate immune responses *via* antigen presentation and phagocytosis (Chen et al. 2015). Macrophages found in the tumor milieu may either be tumoricidal (M1) or pro-tumorigenic (M2), but in tumors there is an increase in the polarization of M1 towards the M2 phenotype in the microenvironment as tumors transition to advanced stages (Mantovani and Sica 2010).

TAMs form a key component of the ecology of tumor cells that exhibit pro-tumoral properties. *Via* their immunosuppressive and angiogenic enhancing properties, TAMs can ensure the evolution of tumor cells into malignant tumors by promoting tumor cell growth, motility, invasion, and metastasis (Noy and Pollard 2014). Additionally, TAMs release various growth factors, pro-tumorigenic proteases, and cytokines within the TME which suppresses T-cell

effector functions and promotes the progression of tumors into malignancy. By creating an inflammatory environment, macrophages can promote tumor growth and subsequently promote tumor invasion, migration and angiogenesis during malignant transformation (Qian and Pollard 2010; Szefel, Danielak, and Kruszewski 2019).

Phenotypically, M1 macrophages due to their immunosuppressive effect express various receptors, cytokines, and effectors that mediate their immunosuppressive action. Some of these which are rightly classified as M1 markers include *iNOS/NOS2*, *Il-12*, *TNF-α*, *IL-6*, *IL-12*, *CD80*, and *CD86*. Pro-tumorigenic M2 macrophages are also characterized by various markers such as *Arg1*, *IL-10*, *Ym1*, *FIZZ1*,*Mrc 1*, *PPARγ*, *TGFβ* (Mantovani et al. 2002; Sica and Mantovani 2012).

2.2.2 Myeloid Derived Suppressor Cells (MDSCs)

MDSCs, as defined by Gabrilovich et al., (2017), refer to myeloid cell populations including macrophages and dendritic cells which contribute to generating immunosuppressive TME. (Gabrilovich et al. 2007). Myeloid cells originate from pluripotent hematopoietic stem cells after a series of differentiation, and they have the sole function of promoting both innate and adaptive immunity. However, during cancer, myeloid cells are polarized to MDSCs which contrary to regular myeloid cells, exert an immunosuppressive effect within the TME by inhibiting other immune cells such as the effector T cells and the natural killer cells properties (Gabrilovich 2017; Gabrilovich, Ostrand-Rosenberg, and Bronte 2012; Szefel et al. 2019). Growth factors and chemokines such as the granulocyte–macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), CSF-1, and CCL-2 secreted by the tumor cells promote the myeloid cells recruitment (Pollard 2009; Pylayeva-Gupta et al. 2012). MDSCs induce CD8⁺ cytotoxic T

lymphocyte (CTL) dysfunction which is correlated with poor cancer prognosis(Lechner et al. 2013).

Various growth factors (chemokines and cytokines) such as endothelial growth factor (VEGF), colony stimulating factor (CSF1), macrophage-colony stimulating factor (M-CSF), granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), stem cell factor (SCF), cyclooxygenase2 (COX-2), prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), interleukin-6 (IL-6) and IL-1β secreted by the tumor cells promote the differentiation of monocytes into MDSCs (Dufait et al. 2015; Lechner, Liebertz, and Epstein 2010). Through the induction of reactive oxygen species, these myeloid lineages have been shown to induce nitration of TCR/CD8, resulting in the failure of CD8⁺ T cells to bind the peptide MHC resulting in tumor escape (Nagaraj et al. 2007). Another suggested mechanism by which MDSCs sufficiently suppresse anti-tumor immunity is *via* arginase-1 and iNOS mediated depletion of L-arginine and production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species, key components for T-cell receptor maturation needed for T-cell proliferation and interaction with tumor antigens (Szefel et al. 2019; Talmadge 2007). In coherence with this fact, the inhibition of MDSCs was seen to be characterized by the inhibition of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) and arginase-1 by Dufait *et al.*, (2015).

Various phenotypic markers that characterize MDSCs include CD11b, CD11c, CD 206, IL-1 β and TNF- α (Umemura et al. 2008). By utilizing RT-PCR Lechner *et al.*, (2010) successfully characterized the various immune factors expressed by MDSC which included arginase1, *iNOS*, *COX-2*, *TNF-\alpha*, *VEGF*, *TGF-\beta*, *IL-4*, *IL-6* and *IL-1\beta*, using RT-PCR (Lechner et al. 2010). The hallmark of popular chemotherapeutic agents such as gemcitabine, 5fluorouracil and docetaxel is the depletion of MDSCs (Kodumudi et al. 2010; Vincent et al. 2010).

2.2.3 T Cells

During inflammatory events and cancers, naïve T cells are activated and differentiated into effector T-cells to elicit effector roles to clear implicated antigens after which some of the Tcells persists and are differentiated into memory cell which downregulate effector T-cell function as a regulatory mechanism. The immunosuppressive nature of the TME curtails the effector roles of CD8⁺ T cells *via* a variety of mechanisms, with a common one being immune checkpoint blockade *via* programmed cell death-1 (PD-1) (Wherry et al. 2007). During tumor progression, T_{reg} cells infiltrate the tumor and promotes tumor immune escape by inhibiting cytotoxic T cell and B cell proliferation. Inhibition of antigen presentation by dendritic cells is also a key immunosuppressive mechanism of Treg cells (Quail and Joyce 2013). T_{reg} cells suppress the function of Th1/TH2/Th17 lymphocytes thereby causing overall immunosuppression (Szefel et al. 2019).

2.2.4 Natural Killer (NK) cells

As a key component of the innate immune system, natural killer cells are one of the principal effector cells against tumor cells. Key cytokines such as interferon γ (IFN γ) released by NK cells promote helper T cell polarization (Chiossone et al. 2018). Also, recruitment of other immune cells such as dendritic cells into solid tumors is enhanced by NK cells *via* the release of some chemokines such as CCL5, XCL1, and 2. NK cells are however key culprits of the immunosuppressive effect of MDSCs and T_{reg} cells during cancer where they inhibit the cytotoxicity of NK cells on tumor cells (Quail and Joyce 2013).

2.2.4 Cancer-associated Fibroblasts (CAFs)

Fibroblasts are major connective tissues responsible for the synthesis and degradation of extracellular matrix components. Contrary to the regulatory roles in inflammation and epithelial differentiation as well as promotion of wound healing by normal fibroblasts, CAFs produce chemokines and growth factors that promote endothelial cell recruitment (Kalluri and Zeisberg 2006). CAFs have been implicated in the initiation, progression, and metastasis of cancer through but not limited to driving HGF and TGF β expression, stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1) secretion, and promotion of the release of metastatic genes respectively (Grum-Schwensen et al. 2005; Kuperwasser et al. 2004; Orimo et al. 2005). Most tumors are characterized by an aberrantly over-expression CAFs with distinctive properties from fibroblasts. CAFs express various markers such as α - smooth muscle actin (α -SMA), vimentin, fibroblast activation protein (FAP), fibroblast specific protein (FSP), and other fibroblast-associated proteins (Micke and Ostman 2004; Paulsson et al. 2009).



Figure 1.1: Schematic representation of the interplay between components of the tumor microenvironment and tumor cells:

During tumorigenesis, cytokines produced by the tumor cells induces the transformation of various immune cells in the TME which in turn promotes the progression, invasion, metastasis and therapy resistance of the tumor cells. TAM: Tumor Microenvironment, MDSC: Myeloid derive suppressor cells, CAF: Cancer Associated Fibroblast, T reg cells: Regulatory T cells.

2.3 Current Cancer Therapies

Various treatment strategies are adopted based on the type and the stage of cancer advancement. To enhance the effectiveness and response to therapy, some clinicians prescribe treatment regimens that may be a combination of these treatment options. At the core of every cancer treatment option is the aim to completely remove tumorous tissues without causing harm to the normal neighboring tissues. However, a compromise to settle for the reduction of tumors and associated complications to a subclinical state is made when absolute remission is not a viable option (Wang, Lei, and Han 2018). Increasing knowledge in cancer dynamics coupled with various technological advancements have revolutionized cancer treatment strategies over time. We discuss some of the treatment strategies as follows.

2.3.1 Surgery

Surgical procedures involve the removal of cancerous tissues which may end either in the total or partial removal of the cancerous tissues depending on the advancement level of the cancer and the affected areas during surgery. Surgical procedures are often used for biopsies during screening and are the mainstay for localized, early-stage tumors (Wyld, Audisio, and Poston 2015). Gradually, surgical procedures are becoming commonplace in the treatment of non-hematological cancers notable of them is cervical cancer (Peng et al. 2016; Pu et al. 2013).

One of the emerging technologies in surgical oncology is robotic surgery. Particularly in neurosurgery, robot-assisted technologies are utilized in the excision of deep benign astrocytoma. Computer tomography images in the form of interactive 3D displays have aided surgeons in performing complex procedures with greater ease and precision. Robotic surgeries have become the mainstay for biopsies and treatment of breast, abdominal, gynecological, and urological cancers (Hashizume and Tsugawa 2004). A major disadvantage of surgery as a treatment option for cancer is the incidence of recurrence of cancer shortly after a surgical procedure. For instance, within five years after surgery, 1 in 4 colorectal cancer patients are likely to have recurrence with signs of colon cancer metastasis (van der Bij et al. 2009; Coffey et al. 2003).

2.3.2 Radiotherapy

Cancer radiotherapy is a common treatment modality in cancer management with over 50% of cancer patients known to have had radiation therapy. Patients either receive radiotherapy as a standalone therapy or as a combination therapy with surgery or chemotherapy(Delaney et al. 2005). Radiotherapy in the clinical setting involves the use of an external beam for deep tissue deposition of energy *via* high-energy photons while avoiding the exposure of radiation to the skin, with a typical treatment schedule spanning over 8 weeks where treatment is given in daily fractions. Brachytherapy is a form of internal radiotherapy where the source of radiation is implanted in the tumor (Allen, Her, and Jaffray 2017). Chemoradiation, the concurrent administration of chemo and radiation therapy has been used clinically for the management of various cancers. In chemoradiation, DNA modifying agents (cisplatin and temozolomide) and antimetabolite (gemcitabine and 5-fluorouracil) along with radiosensitizers are administered for improving clinical outcomes against cancer (Wahl and Lawrence 2017).

A major clinical challenge associated with radiation therapy is the induction of hypoxic TME. O₂ is a known radiosensitizer that enhances cancer cell death during radiotherapy by producing free radicals within the tumor cells. Tissue hypoxia in cancer cells causes a reduction in the generation of free radicals needed for the induction of DNA damage (Rey et al. 2017). Clinical application of radiotherapy is also limited to primary tumor with very little use when

tumors have metastasized since therapy for metastasized tumors requires a systemic approach (Ganesh and Massagué 2021). Also, the increased risk of toxicity is a major limitation associated with radiotherapy as the incidence of major side effects such as leukopenia, radiation dermatitis, anorexia, alopecia, oral mucositis and just to mention but a few increases with increasing radiation intensity and duration, thereby placing limitations on the therapeutic window (Bradley et al. 2015).

2.3.3 Chemotherapy

Chemotherapy involves the administration of various cytotoxic chemical agents which are relatively more toxic to pathogens to eradicate tumors or alleviate tumor burden, and this often involves the intravenous administration of cytotoxic drugs (Anon 1937; Nygren 2001). These cytotoxic agents are classified based on their mechanism of action and briefly discussed below are some general classifications of commonly used clinical chemotherapeutic agents. Alkylating agents and alkylators-related agents such as cyclophosphamide and cisplatin respectively elicit their cytotoxicity via DNA binding, where they disrupt DNA activity. Antimetabolites (gemcitabine and 5-fluorouracil) are also a class of chemotherapeutic agents that share similar structural characteristics with various biomolecules. These agents can then be incorporated into various cellular synthetic pathways and eventually either halt the synthesis of essential DNA and RNA components of the tumor cells or result in the synthesis of a nonfunctional end product(Sauter and Gillingham 2020). Topoisomerase inhibitors inhibit the enzyme topoisomerase which is required for the induction of transient single or double-stranded breaks in DNA during DNA replication, thereby inhibiting the overall replicative process within the tumor. Microtubule interacting agents are a class of cytotoxic agents that disrupts normal microtubule formation. Thus, these classes of cytotoxic agents result in an abnormal

microtubular formation which results in the inhibition of eukaryotic cell proliferation thereby promoting cell death (Steinmetz and Prota 2018).

Administration of the chemotherapeutic agents is often used clinically in combination with different agents that attack the cancer cells at different stages of the tumor development to elicit a synergistic effect (Hellyer and Wakelee 2020). The use of chemotherapy can either be adjuvant therapy or neoadjuvant therapy. Adjuvant therapy is administered after initial therapy such as surgery or radiotherapy to eradicate the remaining tumor cells. In neoadjuvant therapy, chemotherapeutic agents are administered preoperatively to reduce tumor size to render them operable (Leow et al. 2014; Miller et al. 2014). Chemotherapy has been the mainstay for the management of most malignancies but developing chemoresistance is a major challenge encountered by onco-clinicians. The molecular mechanism of drug resistance includes increased drug metabolism, increased ABC transporter (P-glycoprotein) that cause efflux of drugs from cancer cells, and increased DNA repair capacity (Bukowski, Kciuk, and Kontek 2020). Various organ toxicity (cardiotoxicity, nephrotoxicity, neurotoxicity and hepatotoxicity) are major challenges associated with the use of chemotherapeutic agents (Gramatyka 2014; Iki and Urabe 2000; Miller et al. 2010; Oun, Moussa, and Wheate 2018). Therefore, the discovery of new nontoxic drugs and the development of new strategies which can reduce the organ toxicity of chemotherapy are in urgent need.

2.3.4 Hormonal Therapy

The use of hormonal therapy (HT) has gained popularity in both gynecological and nongynecological cancers. HT is based on the premise that some cancers are characterized by an underlying hormonal dysregulation and by correcting this dysregulation, homeostasis can be restored to halt the onset, progression as well as metastasis of cancer. Often in gynecological

cancers, there is a cessation in the synthesis of ovarian hormones in menopausal women whereas younger patients tend to have premature ovarian insufficiency necessitating the need to replace these lacking hormones (Deli, Orosz, and Jakab 2020). In managing breast and other gynecological cancer aromatase inhibitor (tamoxifen) estrogen and/or progestogen preparations are administered either alone or in combination to improve clinical outcomes (Barchiesi et al. 2020; Drăgănescu and Carmocan 2017). In non-gynecological cancers such as prostate, thyroid, and bladder cancer, various hormonal blockers and hormonal regulators are used in their management (Jastrzebska, Gietka-Czernel, and Zgliczyński 2001; Oottamasathien and Crawford 2003).

2.3.5 Targeted Therapies

In cancer therapeutics, targeted therapy involves targeting specific molecular components using drugs to inhibit the growth and proliferation of cancer cells (Lee, Tan, and Oon 2018). As cancer cells develop, they evolve various mechanisms to elude immune surveillance, resulting in their unregulated and uncontrolled growth (Hanahan and Weinberg 2011). In targeted therapy, various molecular alterations that distinguish cancerous cells from normal cells are identified and serve as points of attack using specific agents that attack these alterations (Røsland and Engelsen 2015). These molecular targets include ligands, receptors, genes, growth factors, and various pathways involved in cell cycle, angiogenesis, cell growth, survival, metastasis, and apoptosis (Saijo 2010). The identification of molecular heterogenicity between normal healthy cells and cancerous cells employs the use of various molecular tools for the accurate selection of genes, proteins, and other molecules as targets for therapy(Lee et al. 2018).

The various categories of agents used in targeted therapy include monoclonal antibodies (e.g. Nivolumab), small molecules (e.g. sorafenib), vaccines, and gene therapy(Lee et al. 2018).

Developing resistance is also a major drawback associated with targeted therapy. Since targeted therapy is directed towards a specific molecular target, it becomes inefficacious when there is heterogeneity in the target within the tumor. Moreover, cancer cells can also evolve to be independent of the molecular target resulting in their continuous growth and aggressiveness despite therapy (Lee et al. 2018).

Immunotherapy is currently one of the targeted therapies which has shown very promising results in the management of liver and pancreatic cancer. The human immune system has a cytotoxic potential mediated by tumor-specific T cells that target tumor cells (Kalbasi and Ribas 2020). However, tumor cells evolve to bypass this innate immune response by enhancing the upregulation of the ligands to the inhibitory receptors located on the surface of the cytotoxic T-cells, thereby inhibiting their activation. CTLA-4 and PD1 are key regulatory checkpoints whose ligands are aberrantly overexpressed in TME to suppress cytotoxic T-cell activity (Pardoll 2012). Some evolving cancer therapies aim at targeting the evasive mechanism of tumors by enhancing tumor immune surveillance. Some of these agents have already received Food and Drugs Administration (FDA) approval and are either used individually or in combination with other anti-cancer agents.

Ipilimumab is one of such therapeutic molecules that promote anti-tumor immunity by targeting cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) while activating T cells (Sharma et al. 2011). Nivolumab and lambrolizumab, an antibody to the programmed death 1 (PD1) receptor and ligand respectively are also anti-tumor immune-enhancing agents that promote anti-tumor immunity(Hamid et al. 2013; Wolchok et al. 2013). Cetuximab and bevacizumab, which are inhibitors of EGFR and VEGF angiogenesis respectively are also FDA-approved drugs that are used in the clinical management of cancer (Wilkes 2018).

2.4 Cucurbitacin B.

Cucurbitacin B (Cuc. B) is a natural small molecule in the Cucurbitaceae family which are chemically characterized by the tetracyclic nucleus, $19-(10\rightarrow 9\beta)$ -abeo-5 α -lanostane-5-ene and a molecular weight of 558.7. The botanical source includes the roots, fruit, and seeds of cucurbitaceous plants such as *Citrullus, Cucumins, Lagenaria and Bryonia* species. Cucurbitacins are crystalline, hydrophobic nature, and readily soluble in organic solvents (Enslin and Rehm 1958; Garg et al. 2018; Kaushik, Aeri, and Mir 2015). Cucurbitacins have been used as anti-inflammatory, analgesic, anti-infective and anti-cancer agents across countries in the Asian subcontinent (Arora and Kaushik 2016; Mallick et al. 2017).

In numerous pre-clinical investigations, Cuc. B has demonstrated encouraging anticancer effectiveness against colon, breast, liver, and lung malignancies. Cuc. B has also showed that it has a similar impact as several effective anti-cancer medications (Jayaprakasam, Seeram, and Nair 2003). The same investigation by Jayaprakasam *et al.*, (2003) also produced evidence of the anti-inflammatory and the lipid peroxidation inhibitory effect of Cuc. B. There is also evidence that suggests a pleiotropic effect of Cuc. B, inducing apoptosis and cell cycle arrest (Tannin-Spitz et al. 2007).

Cuc. B has been shown to inhibit the activation of both Janus kinase2 (JAK2) and STAT3 signaling pathway and this contributes to the induction of apoptosis and growth inhibition of various cancerous cells (Escandell et al. 2008; Sun et al. 2005; Xie et al. 2016). Zhou *et al.*, (2017) reported that Cuc. B in pancreatic cancer where experimental findings showed that Cuc. B effectively inhibits pancreatic cancer cell proliferation by arresting the cells in the G2/M phase of the cell cycle. This growth inhibition was due to the inhibitory effect of Cuc. B on EGFR expression as well as other downstream signaling components such as PI3K/Akt/mTOR and

STAT3 (Zhou et al. 2017). Through its inhibitory effect on PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway, Cuc. B inhibits epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), a major factor that promotes tumor metastasis, induced by TGF-β which is a regulator of cell growth and differentiation (Yuan et al. 2022). A similar inhibitory effect of Cuc. B in tumor metastasis was observed in hepatoma cells *via* the inhibition of the PI3K/AKT signaling pathway (Zhou X. *et al.*, 2012). Findings by Mao *et al.*, (2019) also suggested an antiproliferative and apoptotic effect of Cuc. B in colorectal cancer *via* regulation of B-cell translocation gene 3 (BTG3) methylation level (Mao et al. 2019). However, evidence addressing the role of Cuc. B in cancer immunotherapy is very lacking.



Figure 1.2: Structure and images of the botanical sources of Cucurbitacin B
2.5 Key Molecular Targets of Cuc. B

2.5.1 Phosphoinositide-3-kinasey (PI3Ky) Pathway

Phosphoinositide-3-kinaseγ (PI3Kγ) is a subclass of the PI3K lipid kinase family which act together with the Akt pathway to promote cellular growth and survival. The PI3K/Akt pathway is typically active in a cellular environment where nutrient and oxygen supply is deficient, which exemplifies the TME, making it a key pathway to target in cancer therapy(Porta, Paglino, and Mosca 2014). PI3K along with other signaling components such as the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) and AKT enhances growth, angiogenesis, metastasis as well as therapy resistance in cancer (Porta et al. 2014).

Targeted pharmacological and genetic inhibition of PI3K γ increased the infiltration of cytotoxic T-cell population and reduce the TAMs and MDSC population within the TME and enhances the immune checkpoint blockade immunotherapy against cancer (De Henau et al. 2016; Evans et al. 2016; Kaneda et al. 2016; Kraehenbuehl et al. 2022).

2.5.2 CSF-1R Signaling Pathway

CSF-1R is a transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptor that stimulates the formation of macrophages and/or granulocytes from hematopoietic precursors (Smith et al. 1995). This receptor which is encoded by the c-fms proto-oncogene stimulates the differentiation and proliferation and of monocytes/macrophages whiles sustaining the protumorigenic effect of TAMs (Fujiwara et al. 2021; Stanley et al. 1983). CSF1-R is activated by the colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor (CSF-1R) which is a polypeptide growth factor (Rettenmier, Roussel, and Sherr 1988). The overexpression of the CSF-1 ligand and its receptor has been observed in various cancers. CSF-1 induces down-regulation of granulocyte-specific chemokine expression in CAFs.

18

This crosstalk mediated by HDAC2 causes a decreased granulocyte recruitment to tumors thereby enhancing the tumorigenicity (Kumar et al. 2017).

CSF-1 promotes polarization of macrophages into the protumorigenic M2-TAMs. A study by Fujiwara and colleagues showed that BMDM chemotaxis is enhanced upon CSF1mediated phosphorylation of ERK ½ in BMDMs which also promotes polarization towards M2 phenotype (Fujiwara et al. 2021). Targeting CSF1/CSF1R signaling pathway, increased stimulation of CD8⁺ T cells with a concomitant reduction in the polarization, chemotaxis, and survival of TAMs (Fujiwara et al. 2021).

2.5.3 STAT 3 Pathway

STAT 3 is a subtype of the family of signal transducers and activators of transcription (STATs), which are latent cytoplasmic transcription factors that regulate transcription either directly *via* the transduction of extracellular signals (Darnell 1997). The biological functions of STATs include regulations of cell cycle progression, proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis (Battle and Frank 2002; Bromberg and Darnell 2000; Silva 2004). Various growth factors (chemokine and cytokines) such as interleukin 6, interferons and EGFphosphorylate STATs. STAT3 phosphorylation can occur at either the tyrosine site, as an early event where the transcription factors are activated or at serine site (Ser-727) for the enhancement of transcriptional activity (Turkson and Jove 2000). The phosphorylated STAT 3 then undergoes homodimerization or heterodimerization and subsequently translocates into the nucleus to promote transcription of various genes linked to proliferation, invasion and apoptosis inhibition of cancer cells (Sun et al. 2005).

The transcriptional activity of STAT is highly regulated in normal cells however in tumor cells, STAT is dysregulated and the constitutive activation of STAT particularly STAT3 plays a

key role in the increased proliferation of tumor cells (Lehmann et al. 2003; Turkson and Jove 2000). The constitutive activation of STAT3 as observed by Bromberg et al. (1999) is capable of mediating the transformation of cells and formation of tumors in nude mice. Dysregulated STAT3 activation has also been associated with the pathogenesis of hematological and solid tumors, presenting STAT3 as a good target in cancer therapy (Csomós et al. 2021; Yu and Jove 2004). In this thesis, we for the first time evaluated the effect of Cuc. B on PI3K γ /CSF-1R/Stat3 signaling pathways in tumor cells and how targeting these signaling components impact on the phenotypes of MDSc and TAMs.

CHAPTER III

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Cell lines, reagents, and treatments

Murine macrophages cell line Raw 264.7 was obtained from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, TIB-71, Manassas, VA) and cultured in complete Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% heat inactivated FBS (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY), 1x Antibiotic-Antimycotic and incubated at 37°C in a humidified environment of 5% CO₂. Cuc. B was purchased from Cayman chemical (Ann Arbor, MI) and dissolved in Dimethyl Sulfoxide (DMSO, Sigma, St. Louis MO). Interleukin-4 (IL-4) (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) was dissolved in 1X PBS and used at a concentration of 20 ng/mL. GAPDH (21185), AKT (9272s), iNOS (13120s), PI3K (p110) gamma (4252s), CD206/MRC1 (24595s), p-STAT3 (94994s), p-CSF-1R-MCSFR (3155s), MCSF(28917s) PDL-1 (13684s) were purchased from cell signaling. STAT3 (ad119352) was purchased from Abcam. pAKT (sc 514032), Arg 1 (sc47715) were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology. A complete list of reagents used in this study is shown in supplementary (Table 2).

3.2 MTT Assay

A colorimetric assay using 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)- 2,5-diphenyltetrazoliumbromide (MTT) was used to determine the cytotoxicity of Cuc. B towards Raw 264.7 murine macrophage cells. Briefly, cells were seeded at a density of 5×10^3 /well in 96-well plates and cultured until cells were 75-80% confluent. Confluent cells were then treated with the respective compounds as indicated and followed with the addition of MTT at a concentration of 5mg/mL at a volume of 20 µL per well for at least 2 hours at 37°C. Media was then removed and replaced with DMSO (150µL per well) and incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes on a shaker. Optical density (OD) was recorded at 570nm using a spectrophotometer.

3.2 Endotoxin Assay

Endotoxin concentration was determined with ToxinSensor Endotoxin detection system (GenScript, Piscataway, NJ) to account for any potential endotoxin contamination following manufacturer's instructions and endotoxin levels were found to be below 0.01eu/mL (0.004 eu/mL) endotoxin unit for Cuc. B.

3.4 In-vitro isolation of BMDMs from murine bone marrow

We used discarded C57BL/6J mice from our approved UTRGV-IACUC protocol to isolate BMDMs. Briefly, BMDMs were isolated using a protocol developed by the Liza Makowski Lab (UTHSC, Memphis, TN). Briefly, bone marrow cells from the femur and tibia bone of C57BL/6 J mice were isolated and grown in two 150mm plates containing 20mL BMDM complete media (RPMI supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% pen./strep, 10 mM HEPES, 2mM GlutaMAX, 20ng/mL recombinant mouse M-CSF) after RBC lysis using RBC lysate buffer. Ten mL BMDMs complete media was added to each plate on day 4 and the cells were allowed to grow for 2 more days after which the cells were passage into plates for further treatments and analysis. Raw 264.7 cells were also used in generating TAMs as described by Liu *et al.*, (2019).

22

3.5 *In-vitro* differentiation of MDSCs from murine bone marrow

MDSCs were generated according to the protocol by Weber *et al.*, (2020) and (Marigo et al. 2010). Briefly, bone marrow cells from the femur and tibia bone of C57BL/6 J mice were isolated and 2.5×10^6 cells were culture in 100mm plates with 10mL MDSC complete media (RPMI supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% pen./strep, 10 mM HEPES, 1mM sodium pyruvate, 1mM non-essential amino acids, 40ng/mL recombinant mouse IL-6 and 40ng/mL recombinant mouse GM-CSF) and treated with the needed compounds after day 4 for as required.

3.6 Western immunoblot analysis

Cells were seeded in 60mm or 100 mm plates and treated with the required treatments and treatment duration after cells attached and grew 75-80% confluent. After treatment duration, cells were collected in RIPA lysis Buffer System (Santacruz Biotech., Dallas, TX), sonicated, centrifuged and a bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay was used to quantify 40µg protein from the supernatant. The protein was then separated using 10% SDS-PAGE with a subsequent transfer of the separated proteins unto a PVDF membrane. Proteins were then blocked in 10% skim milk in TBST (0.1 % Tween 20-Tris buffered saline) at room temperature for one hour after which the primary antibodies were incubated with the membranes overnight. Membranes were washed in TBST buffer and incubated in HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies for an hour at room temperature. Membranes were incubated in chemiluminescence reagents for 30 seconds and images were taken using ChemiDocTMMP (Bio-rad, Hercules, CA).

3.7 Quantitative real time PCR (qRT-PCR)

Total RNA was extracted from cells after treatment as described earlier using TRIzol (Life Technologies, Carlsbad CA). The purity and concentration of isolated RNA was determined using Nanodrop One^C (Thermo Scientific, Madison, WI). 2000ng RNA was used to

synthesize cDNA RNA using High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Thermofisher, Graiciuno, LT). RT-PCR was ran using CFX 96 Real Time SystemTM (Bio-Rad Inc., Singapore) to determine the expression level of various genes normalized to the fold change of GAPDH.

3.8 Immunofluorescence Assay

Cells were cultured in Lab-Tek IICC2 4-well chamber slide system (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rochester, NY). After duration of treatment, cells were fixed with 4% Paraformaldehyde for 15 minutes at 4°C and permeabilized with 0.2% triton X-100 for 5 minutes. Cells were then blocked using 10% donkey serum at room temperature for 1 hour and then incubated in the respective primary antibody overnight at 4°C. Cells were then washed in TBST (1x tris-buffered saline, 0.1% tween 20) and incubated in the secondary antibody (Alexa Fluor 488-conjugated antibody, Jackson ImmunoResearch) for one hour at room temperature, washed and mounted in antifade mounting medium with DAPI (Vectashield, Burlingame, CA). Images were taken and analyzed using the Nikon AX confocal microscope system.

3.9 In-vitro phagocytosis and killing assays

In-vitro phagocytosis assay was performed using Vybrant Phagocytosis Assay Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, BMDM plated at a density of 100,000 cells per well in a 96 well plate (Corning) in complete RPMI-1640 medium were pre- treated in groups with Cuc. B., IPI-549 and IL-4 overnight then media was replaced by 100 μ L of fluorescent BioParticle suspension containing fluorescent E. coli bioparticles. Cells were then incubated at 37°C 5% CO2 for two hours, washed twice with 1X PBS to remove non-phagocytosed particles, resuspended in 1X PBS and fluorescence was analyzed using FITC channel on EVOS m7000 Cell Imaging (Thermo Fisher Scientific).

3.10 Statistical Methods

All data obtained during this study were presented as Mean \pm Standard error of mean (SEM). Statistical analyses were done using unpaired, two-tailed student's *t*-test and one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with the level of significance set at *p*-values < 0.05 with the levels of significance represented respectively as follows *p< 0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001. All graphs were generated using GraphPad Prism (5.03, GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA).

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

4.1 Cuc. B exhibits a dose-dependent antiproliferative effect on Raw 264.7 cells

To assess the effect of Cuc. B on the viability of Raw 264.7 cells, cells were treated with Cuc. B at different concentrations for 24 and 48 hours respectively in the presence of IL-4 (20ng/mL) and cell viability was measured using MTT at O.D. 570nM. As shown in Figure. 1, Cuc. B produced a significant (p<0.05) dosage dependent decrease in the viability of Raw 264.7 cells (Figure 3.1) confirming the cytotoxic effect of Cuc. B on M2 polarized macrophages. IC₅₀ was determined to be 500 nM and 250 nM at 24 and 48 hours respectively.



Figure 3.1 Cuc. B treatment exhibits cytotoxic effect on Raw 264.7 cells: Raw 264.7 cells were treated with IL-4 (20ng/mL) or indicated concentrations of Cuc.B for24 hours (A) and 48 hours (B) Cell cytotoxicity was determined by MTT assay. Data are expressed in terms of percentage of control (t 100%) \pm SEM (n=8). Comparisons were made by applying ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post hoc test; *p< 0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 were considered significant as compared to control group.

4.2 Cuc. B batch used was devoid of endotoxin contamination

To determine if the effect of Cuc. B is not attributed to any form of endotoxin contamination, endotoxin concentration in Cuc. B determined and endotoxin levels were found to be 0.004 eu/mL for Cuc. B. (Figure 3.2) which is below the minimum allowed endotoxin concentration (0.01eu/mL). From this, we can infer that all the results produced from Cuc. B treatment is solely due to the effect of Cuc. B.



Standard Curve for the Quantification of Endotoxin in Chromogenic Assay

Figure 3.2: Cuc. B has no endotoxin contamination:

Endotoxin concentration in Cuc. B was determined using endotoxin kit by GeneScript. Results indicated shows endotoxin concentration of Cuc. B was found to be to be 0.004 EU/mL

Sample	Average Absorbance	Change in Absorbance	Conc. in EU/ml
LAL reagent water (Blank)	0.051	0	-
0.1 EU/ml Standard	0.587	0.536	0.1
0.05 EU/ml Standard	0.369	0.318	0.05
0.025 EU/ml Standard	0.179	0.128	0.025
0.01 EU/ml Standard	0.100333	0.049333	0.01
Cuc. B	0.073667	0.022667	0.0038

Table 1: Table showing the respective absorbances and corresponding endotoxin concentrations of LAL standard samples and Cuc. B

4.3 BMDMs and MDSCs were successfully generated form murine one marrow

In-vitro isolation of BMDMs and MDSCs was successfully performed after growing isolated murine bone marrows in BMDM complete media for 7 days and MDSCs complete media for 5 days respectively. Our results demonstrated that these cells were differentiated (Figure. 3.4). These cells were then used for our experiments.



Figure 3.3: Schematic representation of steps for the *in-vitro* generation of BMDM and MDSC from murine macrophages



Figure 3.4: Representative images of *in-vitro* generation and treatment of BMDMs and MDSCs from mouse bone marrow.

Representative images are showing the phenotypic changes of isolated macrophages during *invitro* generation of BMDMs (A) and MDSCs (B) and images after 24 hours treatments (C&D) of PI3K γ inhibitor (IPI-549 1 μ M) and Cuc. B (0.25 - 1.0 μ M) in the presence of IL-4 20 ng/mL or vehicle for BMDMs and without IL-4 for MDSCs

4.4 Cuc. B treatment restores the phagocytic capacity of TAMs

The main function of macrophages is to phagocytize foreign pathogens, and apoptotic bodies generated after apoptosis induction or killing tumor cells. To investigate the effect of Cuc. B on phagocytic capacity, we first polarized BMDMs into TAMs with the treatment of IL-4 (20 ng/mL) for 24 hours and then treated with PI3K γ inhibitor (IPI-549 1 μ M) and Cuc. B (0.25 μ M) in the presence of IL-4 (20 ng/mL). Control group cells were treated with the vehicle. The phagocytic capacity of BMDMs was determined by quantification of bioparticles within macrophages after washing off non-ingested particles. We observed a significant (P<0.001) reduction of phagocytosis of bioparticles by IL-4 treated BMDMs, which was significantly recovered by Cuc B treatment at a lower concentration. However, IPI-549 was unable to significantly recover this phagocytic effect of BMDMs (Fig. 3.5). These results strongly suggest that Cuc. B treatment has the potential to enhance the innate immune response to kill tumor cells.



Figure 3.5: Cuc. B promotes the phagocytic capacity in macrophages in-vitro:

(A) Representative image of phagocytosis of fluorescent *E. coli* bioparticles by BMDMs with the treatment of PI3K γ inhibitor (IPI-549 (1 μ M)) and Cuc. B 0.25 μ M, in the presence of IL-4 (20 ng/mL) or vehicle (control) as determined by fluorescent microscopy imaging on the FITC channel. B. Quantification of phagocytosis BMDMs in indicated groups. Data shown in the bar graph represents Mean ± SEM of triplicate well. *p< 0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 values were considered as significant as compared to control group.

4.5 Cuc. B abrogates M2 polarization of macrophages and promotes

M1-like phenotype

To investigate whether Cuc B has the potential to inhibit M2 polarization and increase of M1 macrophage phenotype, We initially performed these experiments in polarized M2-TAMs murine macrophage cell line (Raw 264.7) and then in polarized BMDMs. In this experiment, RAW264.7 and BMDMs were treated with IL-4 (20 ng/ml). Control and treatment group cells were treated with vehicle(DMSO) and Cuc. B (0.25-1.0 μ M) or IPI-549 (1 μ M) for 24 hours. In our first experiment, Cuc B treatment inhibited the expression of M2 markers (Arg I and IL-10) in Raw 264.7 cells (Fig. 3.7 B). It has been demonstrated that TAMs secrete PDL-1 which neutralizes the function of T-cells. Therefore, we determined the effect of Cuc B on the expression of PDL-1 in RAW264.7 cells. We further determine the effect of Cuc B on the expression of P13K γ and iNOS. Surprisingly, we observed that Cuc B treatment abolished the protein levels of P13K γ in RAW264.7 cells as determined by confocal microscopy (Fig.3.7A) and Western blot analysis (Fig. 3.7C).

In-vitro generated MDSCs cells were also cultured and treated with vehicle (DMSO), Cuc. B or IPI-549 for 24 hours. We further performed detailed experiments in M2-polarized BMDMs. We first determined the expression of various markers of M1 and M2 by qPCR. Cuc B treatment showed a dose-dependent significant (P<0.01-0.001) decrease expression of various M2 markers (Arg1, Ym1, FIZZ1, PPAR γ , and TGF β) and a significant (P<0.01) increase in M1 markers (NOS2, IL-6 and CD11C) compared to IL-4 alone treatment group (Figure 3.6 A-B) Cuc B also inhibited the protein level of CD206 in BMDMs (Fig.3.6 D) as determined by Western blot analysis. We observed a significant decrease of MCSFR, AKT, PI3K p110 γ and pSTAT3) in IL-4 polarized BMDMs treated with Cuc B when compared with IL-4 alone treatment (Figure 3.6 (D). These results strongly suggest that Cuc. B can inhibit the protumorigenic potential of TAMs by targeting CSF/CSF1R, Stat3, PI3K γ , and Akt signaling pathways.

4.6 Cuc. B has more potential in targeting TAMs compared to IPI-549

A comparative study was performed using IPI-549, a known potent inhibitor of PI3K γ (p110 γ) (Evans et al. 2016). From the results obtained, a marked decrease in protein expression of MCSFR was observed in IL-4 + Cuc. B treated BMDMs compared to BMDMs -treated with IL-4+ IPI-549, as determined by confocal microscopy (Figure. 3.8 A). Cuc B treatment also showed a marked decrease in the expression of STAT3, CSF1, CSFR, and PI3K γ in IL-4 polarized BMDMs. This effect was more significant as compared to IPI-549 (Figure 3.8 B)



Figure 3.6: Cuc. B inhibits M2 polarization of BMDM and promotes M1-like phenotype in-vitro:

Relative mRNA expression of M1 markers (A) and M2 markers (B) in BMDM by p-PCR analysis and protein levels by Western blot analysis (D) in BMDMs after 24-hour treatment with Cuc. B (0.25 -1.0 μ M) in the presence of IL-4 (20 ng/mL) or vehicle (control). Schematic representation of inhibitory effect off Cuc. B on IL-4 induce polarization of BMDM (C). Values in bar graph shows Mean \pm SEM of biological triplicate. *p< 0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 were considered as significant compared to IL-4 treated group.



Figure 3.7: Cuc. B inhibits M2 polarization of Raw 264.7 M1-like phenotype in-vitro:

Confocal microscopy images (A) Relative mRNA expression (B) by RT-PCR analysis and protein expression by western blot (C) in Raw 264.7 cells after 24-hour treatment with PI3K_{γ} inhibitor (IPI-549 (1µM)), Cuc. B (0.25µM and 0.5µM) in the presence of IL-4 20ng/mL or vehicle (control). Mean ± SEM shown. *p< 0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 compared with control



Figure 3.8: Cuc. B shows TAM suppressive effect comparable to PI3Ky inhibitor, IPI-549:

Representative confocal microscopy images showing the expression of MCSFR (A) and relative mRNA expression of TAM markers (B) in BMDM by RT-PCR analysis after 24-hour treatment with PI3K γ inhibitor (IPI-549 (1 μ M)), Cuc. B (0.25 μ M and 0.5 μ M) in the presence of IL-4 20ng/mL or vehicle (control). Mean \pm SEM shown. *p< 0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 compared with control.

4.7 Cuc. B suppresses bone marrow derived MDSCs activity in-vitro

MDSCs are one of the key tumor immune cells which create immunosuppressive TME to facilitate the growth and metastasis of tumor. Thus, targeting these cells help in suppressing the growth and metastatic phenotypes of cancer. We further investigate the effect of Cuc. B on the bone marrow derived MDSCs. In this experiment, MDSCs were treated with Cuc. B (0.25 - 1.0μ M) or IPI-549 (1 μ M) or vehicle (control). Protein expression by western blot analysis showed a dose-dependent decrease in expression of Arg-1, Stat3, and CD206 when compared to control. We also observed a marked decrease in the protein levels of Stat3, pAKT and CD206 compared to control. These results strongly suggest the potential suppressive effect of Cuc. B on MDSCs.





Protein expression by western blot (A) and relative mRNA by pRT-PCR analysis (B) showing a decrease in the expression of various MDSC markers after 24-hour treatment with Cuc. B (0.25μ M, 0.5μ M and 1.0μ M) or IPI-549 1 μ M in the presence of IL-4 20ng/mL or vehicle (control). Mean \pm SEM shown. *p< 0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 compared with control

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

The tumor microenvironment remains a very important component that influences tumor development, growth and progression (Denton et al. 2018; Hanahan and Weinberg 2011). Various immune components such as TAMs, CAFs, MDSCs, neutrophils, dendritic cells, T-cells that are transformed in the tumor milieu during tumorigenesis promote tumor progression and spread of tumors (Kalluri & Zeisberg, 2006; Junttila & de Sauvage, 2013). Additionally, response to therapy is greatly influenced by the components of the TME (Shree et al. 2011; Vitale et al. 2019). This presents targeting of the TME as an attractive treatment modality in cancer therapeutics. Clinically, targeted therapies that focus on ceasing the progression of changes as well as restoring alterations in the tumor immune landscape during tumorigenesis are producing good clinical outcomes. Notable amongst these agents include checkpoint blockade inhibitors anti-CTLA4 and PD1 antibody (Hamid *et al.*, 2013; Sharma *et al.*, 2011).

Cuc. B., a triterpenoid of the Cucurbitaceae family has extensive evidence supporting its anti-tumor effect in various solid tumors *via* a myriad of suggested mechanisms such as induction of apoptosis and cell cycle arrest (Jayaprakasam *et al.*, 2003;Tannin-Spitz *et al.*, 2007). Multiple studies have reported on the inhibitory effect of Cuc. B on various pathways that promote tumor progression and metastasis such as the Janus kinase2 (JAK2)/STAT3 and the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathways in various tumors (Xie *et al.*, 2016; J. Zhou *et al.*, 2017).

37

Interestingly, these pathways have also been reported to mediate immune checkpoint blockade immunotherapy resistance against tumors (Cannarile et al. 2017; O'Donnell et al. 2018; Zou et al. 2020). In this study, we investigated the Cuc. B potential in targeting key tumor immune cell populations (TAMs and MDSCs) which are linked to generating immunosuppressive TME and checkpoint blockade immunotherapy resistance and failure against various tumor types.

Macrophages are undoubtedly a major component of the innate immune system that opposes the progression and spread of cancer and any treatment modality that promises to improve macrophage immune function promises to be essential artillery in the battle against cancer (Mantovani and Sica 2010). Our findings strongly suggest that Cuc. B has the potential of targeting both TAMs and MDSCs which was evidenced by a significant decrease in various markers of M2-TAMs and MDSCs. Cuc B treatment restored the phagocytic potential of M2 polarized BMDM. These results suggest the likely restoration of the functionality of macrophages upon repolarization of TAMs into M1 phenotype after Cuc. B treatment. Cuc. B produced results comparable to, IPI-549, an inhibitor of PI3Kγ, which is also producing significant preclinical results in cancer immunotherapy (De Henau et al. 2016). This study provides convincing evidence that paves the way for further studies into the role of Cuc. B in tumor immune surveillance and its role in enhancing tumor immune checkpoint blockade therapy.

CHAPTER VI

CONCLUSION

TAMs and MDSCs are the major immune cells generating tumor immunosuppressive environment and checkpoint blockade immunotherapy resistance. PI3K γ , MCSFR and Stat3 signaling are activated in these cells and targeting these pathways have been shown to enhance checkpoint blockade immunotherapy response against cancer. Our results strongly demonstrated that Cuc. B is a potential natural agent which has strong potential in simultaneously targeting Stat3/CSF-1R and PI3K γ in both TAMs and MDSCs. Therefore, we strongly believe that Cuc B treatment will work as an adjuvant to enhance checkpoint blockade immunotherapy response in less responsive tumors. Further studies are required to prove this hypothesis in appropriate preclinical mouse models of cancer.

REFERENCES

- Ahmad, Aamir. 2013. "Pathways to Breast Cancer Recurrence." *ISRN Oncology* 2013:e290568. doi: 10.1155/2013/290568.
- Allen, Christine, Sohyoung Her, and David A. Jaffray. 2017. "Radiotherapy for Cancer: Present and Future." *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 109:1–2. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2017.01.004.
- Anon. 1937. "Researches in Chemotherapy." *Nature* 140(3540):409–409. doi: 10.1038/140409a0.
- Arora, Pranjul, and Dhirender Kaushik. 2016. "Therapeutic Potential of Benincasa Cerifera: A Review." *Chinese Journal of Integrative Medicine*. doi: 10.1007/s11655-016-2589-8.
- Barchiesi, Giacomo, Marco Mazzotta, Eriseld Krasniqi, Laura Pizzuti, Daniele Marinelli, Elisabetta Capomolla, Domenico Sergi, Antonella Amodio, Clara Natoli, Teresa Gamucci, Enrico Vizza, Paolo Marchetti, Claudio Botti, Giuseppe Sanguineti, Gennaro Ciliberto, Maddalena Barba, and Patrizia Vici. 2020. "Neoadjuvant Endocrine Therapy in Breast Cancer: Current Knowledge and Future Perspectives." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 21(10):3528. doi: 10.3390/ijms21103528.
- Battle, T. E., and D. A. Frank. 2002. "The Role of STATs in Apoptosis." *Current Molecular Medicine* 2(4):381–92. doi: 10.2174/1566524023362456.
- van der Bij, Gerben J., Steven J. Oosterling, Robert H. J. Beelen, Sybren Meijer, John C. Coffey, and Marjolein van Egmond. 2009. "The Perioperative Period Is an Underutilized Window of Therapeutic Opportunity in Patients with Colorectal Cancer." *Annals of Surgery* 249(5):727–34. doi: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181a3ddbd.
- Bradley, Jeffrey D., Rebecca Paulus, Ritsuko Komaki, Gregory Masters, George Blumenschein, Steven Schild, Jeffrey Bogart, Chen Hu, Kenneth Forster, Anthony Magliocco, Vivek Kavadi, Yolanda I. Garces, Samir Narayan, Puneeth Iyengar, Cliff Robinson, Raymond B. Wynn, Christopher Koprowski, Joanne Meng, Jonathan Beitler, Rakesh Gaur, Walter Curran, and Hak Choy. 2015. "Standard-Dose versus High-Dose Conformal Radiotherapy with Concurrent and Consolidation Carboplatin plus Paclitaxel with or without Cetuximab for Patients with Stage IIIA or IIIB Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer (RTOG 0617): A Randomised, Two-by-Two Factorial Phase 3 Study." *The Lancet Oncology* 16(2):187–99. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)71207-0.

- Bromberg, J., and J. E. Darnell. 2000. "The Role of STATs in Transcriptional Control and Their Impact on Cellular Function." *Oncogene* 19(21):2468–73. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1203476.
- Bromberg, Jacqueline F., Melissa H. Wrzeszczynska, Geeta Devgan, Yanxiang Zhao, Richard G. Pestell, Chris Albanese, and James E. Darnell. 1999. "Stat3 as an Oncogene." *Cell* 98(3):295–303. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81959-5.
- Bukowski, Karol, Mateusz Kciuk, and Renata Kontek. 2020. "Mechanisms of Multidrug Resistance in Cancer Chemotherapy." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 21(9):3233. doi: 10.3390/ijms21093233.
- Cannarile, Michael A., Martin Weisser, Wolfgang Jacob, Anna-Maria Jegg, Carola H. Ries, and Dominik Rüttinger. 2017. "Colony-Stimulating Factor 1 Receptor (CSF1R) Inhibitors in Cancer Therapy." *Journal for Immunotherapy of Cancer* 5:53. doi: 10.1186/s40425-017-0257-y.
- Chen, H., R. Shi, B. Luo, X. Yang, L. Qiu, J. Xiong, M. Jiang, Y. Liu, Z. Zhang, and Y. Wu. 2015. "Macrophage Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor γ Deficiency Delays Skin Wound Healing through Impairing Apoptotic Cell Clearance in Mice." *Cell Death* & Disease 6(1):e1597. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2014.544.
- Chiossone, Laura, Pierre-Yves Dumas, Margaux Vienne, and Eric Vivier. 2018. "Natural Killer Cells and Other Innate Lymphoid Cells in Cancer." *Nature Reviews. Immunology* 18(11):671–88. doi: 10.1038/s41577-018-0061-z.
- Claesson-Welsh, L., and M. Welsh. 2013. "VEGFA and Tumour Angiogenesis." *Journal of Internal Medicine* 273(2):114–27. doi: 10.1111/joim.12019.
- Coffey, J. C., J. H. Wang, M. J. F. Smith, D. Bouchier-Hayes, T. G. Cotter, and H. P. Redmond. 2003. "Excisional Surgery for Cancer Cure: Therapy at a Cost." *The Lancet. Oncology* 4(12):760–68. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(03)01282-8.
- Csomós, István, Péter Nagy, Csenge Filep, István Rebenku, Enikő Nizsalóczki, Tamás Kovács, György Vámosi, László Mátyus, and Andrea Bodnár. 2021. "Opposing Effects of Chelidonine on Tyrosine and Serine Phosphorylation of STAT3 in Human Uveal Melanoma Cells." *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 22(23):12974. doi: 10.3390/ijms222312974.
- Darnell, J. E. 1997. "STATs and Gene Regulation." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 277(5332):1630–35. doi: 10.1126/science.277.5332.1630.
- De Henau, Olivier, Matthew Rausch, David Winkler, Luis Felipe Campesato, Cailian Liu, Daniel Hirschhorn Cymerman, Sadna Budhu, Arnab Ghosh, Melissa Pink, Jeremy Tchaicha, Mark Douglas, Thomas Tibbitts, Sujata Sharma, Jennifer Proctor, Nicole Kosmider, Kerry White, Howard Stern, John Soglia, Julian Adams, Vito J. Palombella, Karen McGovern, Jeffery L. Kutok, Jedd D. Wolchok, and Taha Merghoub. 2016. "Overcoming Resistance to Checkpoint Blockade Therapy by Targeting PI3Kγ in Myeloid Cells." *Nature* 539(7629):443–47. doi: 10.1038/nature20554.

- Delaney, Geoff, Susannah Jacob, Carolyn Featherstone, and Michael Barton. 2005. "The Role of Radiotherapy in Cancer Treatment: Estimating Optimal Utilization from a Review of Evidence-Based Clinical Guidelines." *Cancer* 104(6):1129–37. doi: 10.1002/cncr.21324.
- Deli, Tamás, Mónika Orosz, and Attila Jakab. 2020. "Hormone Replacement Therapy in Cancer Survivors – Review of the Literature." *Pathology Oncology Research* 26(1):63–78. doi: 10.1007/s12253-018-00569-x.
- Denton, Alice E., Edward W. Roberts, and Douglas T. Fearon. 2018. "Stromal Cells in the Tumor Microenvironment." Pp. 99–114 in *Stromal Immunology, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, edited by B. M. J. Owens and M. A. Lakins. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Drăgănescu, Mădălina, and Codruța Carmocan. 2017. "Hormone Therapy in Breast Cancer." *Chirurgia (Bucharest, Romania: 1990)* 112(4):413–17. doi: 10.21614/chirurgia.112.4.413.
- Dufait, Inès, Julia Katharina Schwarze, Therese Liechtenstein, Wim Leonard, Heng Jiang, David Escors, Mark De Ridder, and Karine Breckpot. 2015. "Ex Vivo Generation of Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells That Model the Tumor Immunosuppressive Environment in Colorectal Cancer." *Oncotarget* 6(14):12369–82.
- Enslin, P. R., and S. Rehm. 1958. "Symposium on Biochemistry and Taxonomy: The Distribution and Biogenesis of the Cucurbitacins in Relation to the Taxonomy of the Cucurbitaceae." *Proceedings of the Linnean Society of London* 169(3):230–38. doi: 10.1111/j.1095-8312.1958.tb01478.x.
- Escandell, José M., Pawan Kaler, M. Carmen Recio, Takehiko Sasazuki, Senji Shirasawa, Leonard Augenlicht, José-Luis Ríos, and Lidija Klampfer. 2008. "Activated KRas Protects Colon Cancer Cells from Cucurbitacin-Induced Apoptosis; the Role of P53 and P21." *Biochemical Pharmacology* 76(2):198–207. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2008.05.004.
- Evans, Catherine A., Tao Liu, André Lescarbeau, Somarajan J. Nair, Louis Grenier, Johan A. Pradeilles, Quentin Glenadel, Thomas Tibbitts, Ann M. Rowley, Jonathan P. DiNitto, Erin E. Brophy, Erin L. O'Hearn, Janid A. Ali, David G. Winkler, Stanley I. Goldstein, Patrick O'Hearn, Christian M. Martin, Jennifer G. Hoyt, John R. Soglia, Culver Cheung, Melissa M. Pink, Jennifer L. Proctor, Vito J. Palombella, Martin R. Tremblay, and Alfredo C. Castro. 2016. "Discovery of a Selective Phosphoinositide-3-Kinase (PI3K)-γ Inhibitor (IPI-549) as an Immuno-Oncology Clinical Candidate." *ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters* 7(9):862–67. doi: 10.1021/acsmedchemlett.6b00238.
- Fujiwara, Tomohiro, Mohamed A. Yakoub, Andrew Chandler, Alexander B. Christ, Guangli Yang, Ouathek Ouerfelli, Vinagolu K. Rajasekhar, Aki Yoshida, Hiroya Kondo, Toshiaki Hata, Hiroshi Tazawa, Yildirim Dogan, Malcolm A. S. Moore, Toshiyoshi Fujiwara, Toshifumi Ozaki, Ed Purdue, and John H. Healey. 2021. "CSF1/CSF1R Signaling Inhibitor Pexidartinib (PLX3397) Reprograms Tumor-Associated Macrophages and Stimulates T-Cell Infiltration in the Sarcoma Microenvironment." *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics* 20(8):1388–99. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-20-0591.

- Gabrilovich, Dmitry I. 2017. "Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells." *Cancer Immunology Research* 5(1):3–8. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0297.
- Gabrilovich, Dmitry I., Vincenzo Bronte, Shu-Hsia Chen, Mario P. Colombo, Augusto Ochoa, Suzanne Ostrand-Rosenberg, and Hans Schreiber. 2007. "The Terminology Issue for Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells." *Cancer Research* 67(1):425–26. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3037.
- Gabrilovich, Dmitry I., Suzanne Ostrand-Rosenberg, and Vincenzo Bronte. 2012. "Coordinated Regulation of Myeloid Cells by Tumours." *Nature Reviews Immunology* 12(4):253–68. doi: 10.1038/nri3175.
- Ganesh, Karuna, and Joan Massagué. 2021. "Targeting Metastatic Cancer." *Nature Medicine* 27(1):34–44. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-01195-4.
- Garg, Sukant, Sunil C. Kaul, and Renu Wadhwa. 2018. "Cucurbitacin B and Cancer Intervention: Chemistry, Biology and Mechanisms (Review)." *International Journal of* Oncology 52(1):19–37. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2017.4203.
- Gatenby, Robert A., and Joel S. Brown. 2020. "The Evolution and Ecology of Resistance in Cancer Therapy." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine* 10(11):a040972. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a040972.
- Gramatyka, Michalina. 2014. "[Cardiotoxicity as undesired side effect in the treatment of breast cancer]." *Postepy Higieny I Medycyny Doswiadczalnej (Online)* 68:483–97. doi: 10.5604/17322693.1101581.
- Grum-Schwensen, Birgitte, Jörg Klingelhofer, Christian Hededam Berg, Christian El-Naaman, Mariam Grigorian, Eugene Lukanidin, and Noona Ambartsumian. 2005. "Suppression of Tumor Development and Metastasis Formation in Mice Lacking the S100A4(Mts1) Gene." *Cancer Research* 65(9):3772–80. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-4510.
- Hamid, Omid, Caroline Robert, Adil Daud, F. Stephen Hodi, Wen-Jen Hwu, Richard Kefford, Jedd D. Wolchok, Peter Hersey, Richard W. Joseph, Jeffrey S. Weber, Roxana Dronca, Tara C. Gangadhar, Amita Patnaik, Hassane Zarour, Anthony M. Joshua, Kevin Gergich, Jeroen Elassaiss-Schaap, Alain Algazi, Christine Mateus, Peter Boasberg, Paul C. Tumeh, Bartosz Chmielowski, Scot W. Ebbinghaus, Xiaoyun Nicole Li, S. Peter Kang, and Antoni Ribas. 2013. "Safety and Tumor Responses with Lambrolizumab (Anti-PD-1) in Melanoma." *The New England Journal of Medicine* 369(2):134–44. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1305133.
- Han, Song, Peng-Fei Wang, Hong-Qing Cai, Jing-Hai Wan, Shou-Wei Li, Ze-Huan Lin, Chun-Jiang Yu, and Chang-Xiang Yan. 2021. "Alterations in the RTK/Ras/PI3K/AKT Pathway Serve as Potential Biomarkers for Immunotherapy Outcome of Diffuse Gliomas." *Aging* 13(11):15444–58. doi: 10.18632/aging.203102.
- Hanahan, Douglas, and Robert A. Weinberg. 2000. "The Hallmarks of Cancer." *Cell* 100(1):57–70. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81683-9.

- Hanahan, Douglas, and Robert A. Weinberg. 2011. "Hallmarks of Cancer: The next Generation." *Cell* 144(5):646–74.
- Hashizume, Makoto, and Kouji Tsugawa. 2004. "Robotic Surgery and Cancer: The Present State, Problems and Future Vision." *Japanese Journal of Clinical Oncology* 34(5):227– 37. doi: 10.1093/jjco/hyh053.
- Hellyer, Jessica A., and Heather A. Wakelee. 2020. "Adjuvant Chemotherapy." *Thoracic Surgery Clinics* 30(2):179–85. doi: 10.1016/j.thorsurg.2020.01.003.
- Horsman, Michael R., Lise Saksø Mortensen, Jørgen B. Petersen, Morten Busk, and Jens Overgaard. 2012. "Imaging Hypoxia to Improve Radiotherapy Outcome." *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology* 9(12):674–87. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2012.171.
- Iki, S., and A. Urabe. 2000. "[Prevention and treatment of the side effects of cancer chemotherapy]." *Gan to Kagaku Ryoho. Cancer & Chemotherapy* 27(11):1635–40.
- Jastrzebska, H., M. Gietka-Czernel, and S. Zgliczyński. 2001. "[Hormonal replacement therapy in women after surgery for thyroid cancer treated with suppressive doses of Lthyroxine]." *Wiadomosci Lekarskie (Warsaw, Poland: 1960)* 54 Suppl 1:383–88.
- Jayaprakasam, Bolleddula, Navindra P. Seeram, and Muraleedharan G. Nair. 2003. "Anticancer and Antiinflammatory Activities of Cucurbitacins from Cucurbita Andreana." *Cancer Letters* 189(1):11–16. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3835(02)00497-4.
- Junttila, Melissa R., and Frederic J. de Sauvage. 2013. "Influence of Tumour Micro-Environment Heterogeneity on Therapeutic Response." *Nature* 501(7467):346–54. doi: 10.1038/nature12626.
- Kalbasi, Anusha, and Antoni Ribas. 2020. "Tumour-Intrinsic Resistance to Immune Checkpoint Blockade." *Nature Reviews. Immunology* 20(1):25–39. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0218-4.
- Kalluri, Raghu, and Michael Zeisberg. 2006. "Fibroblasts in Cancer." *Nature Reviews Cancer* 6(5):392–401. doi: 10.1038/nrc1877.
- Kaneda, Megan M., Karen S. Messer, Natacha Ralainirina, Hongying Li, Christopher J. Leem, Sara Gorjestani, Gyunghwi Woo, Abraham V. Nguyen, Camila C. Figueiredo, Philippe Foubert, Michael C. Schmid, Melissa Pink, David G. Winkler, Matthew Rausch, Vito J. Palombella, Jeffery Kutok, Karen McGovern, Kelly A. Frazer, Xuefeng Wu, Michael Karin, Roman Sasik, Ezra E. W. Cohen, and Judith A. Varner. 2016. "PI3Kγ Is a Molecular Switch That Controls Immune Suppression." *Nature* 539(7629):437–42. doi: 10.1038/nature19834.
- Kaushik, Ujjwal, Vidhu Aeri, and Showkat R. Mir. 2015. "Cucurbitacins An Insight into Medicinal Leads from Nature." *Pharmacognosy Reviews* 9(17):12–18. doi: 10.4103/0973-7847.156314.

- Kodumudi, Krithika N., Karrune Woan, Danielle L. Gilvary, Eva Sahakian, Sheng Wei, and Julie Y. Djeu. 2010. "A Novel Chemoimmunomodulating Property of Docetaxel: Suppression of Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in Tumor Bearers." *Clinical Cancer Research: An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* 16(18):4583–94. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0733.
- Kraehenbuehl, Lukas, Chien-Huan Weng, Shabnam Eghbali, Jedd D. Wolchok, and Taha Merghoub. 2022. "Enhancing Immunotherapy in Cancer by Targeting Emerging Immunomodulatory Pathways." *Nature Reviews. Clinical Oncology* 19(1):37–50. doi: 10.1038/s41571-021-00552-7.
- Kumar, Vinit, Laxminarasimha Donthireddy, Douglas Marvel, Thomas Condamine, Fang Wang, Sergio Lavilla-Alonso, Ayumi Hashimoto, Prashanthi Vonteddu, Reeti Behera, Marlee A. Goins, Charles Mulligan, Brian Nam, Neil Hockstein, Fred Denstman, Shanti Shakamuri, David W. Speicher, Ashani T. Weeraratna, Timothy Chao, Robert H. Vonderheide, Lucia R. Languino, Peter Ordentlich, Qin Liu, Xiaowei Xu, Albert Lo, Ellen Puré, Chunsheng Zhang, Andrey Loboda, Manuel A. Sepulveda, Linda A. Snyder, and Dmitry I. Gabrilovich. 2017. "Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts Neutralize the Anti-Tumor Effect of CSF1 Receptor Blockade by Inducing PMN-MDSC Infiltration of Tumors." *Cancer Cell* 32(5):654-668.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.10.005.
- Kuperwasser, Charlotte, Tony Chavarria, Min Wu, Greg Magrane, Joe W. Gray, Loucinda Carey, Andrea Richardson, and Robert A. Weinberg. 2004. "Reconstruction of Functionally Normal and Malignant Human Breast Tissues in Mice." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 101(14):4966–71. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0401064101.
- Lechner, Melissa G., Saman S. Karimi, Keegan Barry-Holson, Trevor E. Angell, Katherine A. Murphy, Connor H. Church, John R. Ohlfest, Peisheng Hu, and Alan L. Epstein. 2013.
 "Immunogenicity of Murine Solid Tumor Models as a Defining Feature of in Vivo Behavior and Response to Immunotherapy." *Journal of Immunotherapy (Hagerstown, Md.: 1997)* 36(9):477–89. doi: 10.1097/01.cji.0000436722.46675.4a.
- Lechner, Melissa G., Daniel J. Liebertz, and Alan L. Epstein. 2010. "Characterization of Cytokine-Induced Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells from Normal Human Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells." *The Journal of Immunology* 185(4):2273–84. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000901.
- Lee, Yeuan Ting, Yi Jer Tan, and Chern Ein Oon. 2018. "Molecular Targeted Therapy: Treating Cancer with Specificity." *European Journal of Pharmacology* 834:188–96. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2018.07.034.
- Lehmann, Ute, Jochen Schmitz, Manuela Weissenbach, Radoslaw M. Sobota, Michael Hörtner, Kerstin Friederichs, Iris Behrmann, William Tsiaris, Atsuo Sasaki, Jens Schneider-Mergener, Akihiko Yoshimura, Benjamin G. Neel, Peter C. Heinrich, and Fred Schaper. 2003. "SHP2 and SOCS3 Contribute to Tyr-759-Dependent Attenuation of Interleukin-6

Signaling through Gp130*." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278(1):661–71. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M210552200.

- Leow, Jeffrey J., William Martin-Doyle, André P. Fay, Toni K. Choueiri, Steven L. Chang, and Joaquim Bellmunt. 2014. "A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Adjuvant and Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy for Upper Tract Urothelial Carcinoma." *European Urology* 66(3):529–41. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2014.03.003.
- Liu, Jie, Degang Ding, Zhaoqiang Jiang, Tao Du, Jianjun Liu, and Zhaohui Kong. 2019. "Long Non-Coding RNA CCAT1/MiR-148a/PKCζ Prevents Cell Migration of Prostate Cancer by Altering Macrophage Polarization." *The Prostate* 79(1):105–12. doi: 10.1002/pros.23716.
- Luo, Hua, Chi Teng Vong, Hanbin Chen, Yan Gao, Peng Lyu, Ling Qiu, Mingming Zhao, Qiao Liu, Zehua Cheng, Jian Zou, Peifen Yao, Caifang Gao, Jinchao Wei, Carolina Oi Lam Ung, Shengpeng Wang, Zhangfeng Zhong, and Yitao Wang. 2019. "Naturally Occurring Anti-Cancer Compounds: Shining from Chinese Herbal Medicine." *Chinese Medicine* 14:48. doi: 10.1186/s13020-019-0270-9.
- Mallick, Md. Nasar, Washim Khan, Rabea Parveen, Sayeed Ahmad, Sadaf, Mohammad Zeeshan Najm, Istaq Ahmad, and Syed Akhtar Husain. 2017. "Exploring the Cytotoxic Potential of Triterpenoids-Enriched Fraction of Bacopa Monnieri by Implementing In Vitro, In Vivo, and In Silico Approaches." *Pharmacognosy Magazine* 13(Suppl 3):S595–606. doi: 10.4103/pm.pm 397 16.
- Mantovani, Alberto, and Antonio Sica. 2010. "Macrophages, Innate Immunity and Cancer: Balance, Tolerance, and Diversity." *Current Opinion in Immunology* 22(2):231–37. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2010.01.009.
- Mantovani, Alberto, Silvano Sozzani, Massimo Locati, Paola Allavena, and Antonio Sica. 2002.
 "Macrophage Polarization: Tumor-Associated Macrophages as a Paradigm for Polarized M2 Mononuclear Phagocytes." *Trends in Immunology* 23(11):549–55. doi: 10.1016/S1471-4906(02)02302-5.
- Mao, D., A. H. Liu, Z. P. Wang, X. W. Zhang, and H. Lu. 2019. "Cucurbitacin B Inhibits Cell Proliferation and Induces Cell Apoptosis in Colorectal Cancer by Modulating Methylation Status of BTG3." *Neoplasma* 66(4):593–602. doi: 10.4149/neo_2018_180929N729.
- Marigo, Ilaria, Erika Bosio, Samantha Solito, Circe Mesa, Audry Fernandez, Luigi Dolcetti, Stefano Ugel, Nada Sonda, Silvio Bicciato, Erika Falisi, Fiorella Calabrese, Giuseppe Basso, Paola Zanovello, Emanuele Cozzi, Susanna Mandruzzato, and Vincenzo Bronte. 2010. "Tumor-Induced Tolerance and Immune Suppression Depend on the C/EBPβ Transcription Factor." *Immunity* 32(6):790–802. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2010.05.010.
- Micke, Patrick, and Arne Ostman. 2004. "Tumour-Stroma Interaction: Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts as Novel Targets in Anti-Cancer Therapy?" *Lung Cancer (Amsterdam, Netherlands)* 45 Suppl 2:S163-175. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2004.07.977.

- Miller, Elizabeth, Hee Jin Lee, Amriti Lulla, Liz Hernandez, Prashanth Gokare, and Bora Lim. 2014. "Current Treatment of Early Breast Cancer: Adjuvant and Neoadjuvant Therapy." *F1000Research* 3:198. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.4340.1.
- Miller, Ronald P., Raghu K. Tadagavadi, Ganesan Ramesh, and William Brian Reeves. 2010. "Mechanisms of Cisplatin Nephrotoxicity." *Toxins* 2(11):2490–2518. doi: 10.3390/toxins2112490.
- Nagaraj, Srinivas, Kapil Gupta, Vladimir Pisarev, Leo Kinarsky, Simon Sherman, Loveleen Kang, Donna L. Herber, Jonathan Schneck, and Dmitry I. Gabrilovich. 2007. "Altered Recognition of Antigen Is a Mechanism of CD8+ T Cell Tolerance in Cancer." *Nature Medicine* 13(7):828–35. doi: 10.1038/nm1609.
- Noy, Roy, and Jeffrey W. Pollard. 2014. "Tumor-Associated Macrophages: From Mechanisms to Therapy." *Immunity* 41(1):49–61. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.010.
- Nygren, Peter. 2001. "What Is Cancer Chemotherapy?" *Acta Oncologica* 40(2–3):166–74. doi: 10.1080/02841860151116204.
- O'Donnell, Jake S., Daniela Massi, Michele W. L. Teng, and Mario Mandala. 2018. "PI3K-AKT-MTOR Inhibition in Cancer Immunotherapy, Redux." *Seminars in Cancer Biology* 48:91–103. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2017.04.015.
- Oottamasathien, Siam, and E. David Crawford. 2003. "Recent Advances in Hormonal Therapy for Advanced Prostate Cancer." *Oncology (Williston Park, N.Y.)* 17(8):1047–52; discussion 1054-1058.
- Orimo, Akira, Piyush B. Gupta, Dennis C. Sgroi, Fernando Arenzana-Seisdedos, Thierry Delaunay, Rizwan Naeem, Vincent J. Carey, Andrea L. Richardson, and Robert A. Weinberg. 2005. "Stromal Fibroblasts Present in Invasive Human Breast Carcinomas Promote Tumor Growth and Angiogenesis through Elevated SDF-1/CXCL12 Secretion." *Cell* 121(3):335–48. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.02.034.
- Oun, Rabbab, Yvonne E. Moussa, and Nial J. Wheate. 2018. "The Side Effects of Platinum-Based Chemotherapy Drugs: A Review for Chemists." *Dalton Transactions* 47(19):6645–53. doi: 10.1039/C8DT00838H.
- Pardoll, Drew M. 2012. "The Blockade of Immune Checkpoints in Cancer Immunotherapy." *Nature Reviews Cancer* 12(4):252–64. doi: 10.1038/nrc3239.
- Paulsson, Janna, Tobias Sjöblom, Patrick Micke, Fredrik Pontén, Göran Landberg, Carl-Henrik Heldin, Jonas Bergh, Donal J. Brennan, Karin Jirström, and Arne Ostman. 2009.
 "Prognostic Significance of Stromal Platelet-Derived Growth Factor Beta-Receptor Expression in Human Breast Cancer." *The American Journal of Pathology* 175(1):334– 41. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2009.081030.
- Peng, Yun-Hua, Xin-Xiu Wang, Jing-Song Zhu, and Li Gao. 2016. "Neo-Adjuvant Chemotherapy plus Surgery versus Surgery Alone for Cervical Cancer: Meta-Analysis of

Randomized Controlled Trials." *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Research* 42(2):128–35. doi: 10.1111/jog.12896.

- Petitprez, Florent, Maxime Meylan, Aurélien de Reyniès, Catherine Sautès-Fridman, and Wolf H. Fridman. 2020. "The Tumor Microenvironment in the Response to Immune Checkpoint Blockade Therapies." *Frontiers in Immunology* 11:784. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00784.
- Pollard, Jeffrey W. 2009. "Trophic Macrophages in Development and Disease." *Nature Reviews*. *Immunology* 9(4):259–70. doi: 10.1038/nri2528.
- Porta, Camillo, Chiara Paglino, and Alessandra Mosca. 2014. "Targeting PI3K/Akt/MTOR Signaling in Cancer." *Frontiers in Oncology* 4:64.
- Pu, Juan, Shan-shan Qin, Jin-xia Ding, Yan Zhang, Wei-guo Zhu, Chang-hua Yu, Tao Li, Guang-zhou Tao, Fu-zhi Ji, Xi-lei Zhou, Ji-hua Han, Ya-lin Ji, and Jun-xia Sun. 2013. "A Randomized Controlled Study of Single-Agent Cisplatin and Radiotherapy versus Docetaxel/Cisplatin and Radiotherapy in High-Risk Early-Stage Cervical Cancer after Radical Surgery." *Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology* 139(4):703–8. doi: 10.1007/s00432-013-1373-9.
- Pylayeva-Gupta, Yuliya, Kyoung Eun Lee, Cristina H. Hajdu, George Miller, and Dafna Bar-Sagi. 2012. "Oncogenic Kras-Induced GM-CSF Production Promotes the Development of Pancreatic Neoplasia." *Cancer Cell* 21(6):836–47. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2012.04.024.
- Qian, Binzhi, and Jeffrey W. Pollard. 2010. "Macrophage Diversity Enhances Tumor Progression and Metastasis." *Cell* 141(1):39–51. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.03.014.
- Quagliano, Anthony, Anilkumar Gopalakrishnapillai, and Sonali P. Barwe. 2020. "Understanding the Mechanisms by Which Epigenetic Modifiers Avert Therapy Resistance in Cancer." *Frontiers in Oncology* 10:992. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00992.
- Quail, Daniela F., and Johanna A. Joyce. 2013. "Microenvironmental Regulation of Tumor Progression and Metastasis." *Nature Medicine* 19(11):1423–37. doi: 10.1038/nm.3394.
- Rettenmier, Carl W., Martine F. Roussel, and Charles J. Sherr. 1988. "The Colony-Stimulating Factor 1 (CSF-1) Receptor (c- *Fms* Proto-Oncogene Product) and Its Ligand." *Journal of Cell Science* 1988(Supplement 9):27–44. doi: 10.1242/jcs.1988.Supplement 9.2.
- Rey, Sergio, Luana Schito, Marianne Koritzinsky, and Bradly G. Wouters. 2017. "Molecular Targeting of Hypoxia in Radiotherapy." *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 109:45–62. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2016.10.002.
- Ribas, Antoni, and Jedd D. Wolchok. 2018. "Cancer Immunotherapy Using Checkpoint Blockade." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 359(6382):1350–55. doi: 10.1126/science.aar4060.
- Røsland, Gro Vatne, and Agnete Svendsen Tenfjord Engelsen. 2015. "Novel Points of Attack for Targeted Cancer Therapy." *Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology* 116(1):9–18.

- Saijo, Nagahiro. 2010. "Progress in Cancer Chemotherapy with Special Stress on Molecular-Targeted Therapy." *Japanese Journal of Clinical Oncology* 40(9):855–62. doi: 10.1093/jjco/hyq035.
- Sangro, Bruno, Pablo Sarobe, Sandra Hervás-Stubbs, and Ignacio Melero. 2021. "Advances in Immunotherapy for Hepatocellular Carcinoma." *Nature Reviews. Gastroenterology & Hepatology* 1–19. doi: 10.1038/s41575-021-00438-0.
- Sauter, Basilius, and Dennis Gillingham. 2020. "DNA Damaging Agents in Chemical Biology and Cancer." *CHIMIA* 74(9):693–693. doi: 10.2533/chimia.2020.693.
- Sharma, Padmanee, Klaus Wagner, Jedd D. Wolchok, and James P. Allison. 2011. "Novel Cancer Immunotherapy Agents with Survival Benefit: Recent Successes and next Steps." *Nature Reviews. Cancer* 11(11):805–12. doi: 10.1038/nrc3153.
- Shree, Tanaya, Oakley C. Olson, Benelita T. Elie, Jemila C. Kester, Alfred L. Garfall, Kenishana Simpson, Katherine M. Bell-McGuinn, Emily C. Zabor, Edi Brogi, and Johanna A. Joyce. 2011. "Macrophages and Cathepsin Proteases Blunt Chemotherapeutic Response in Breast Cancer." *Genes & Development* 25(23):2465–79. doi: 10.1101/gad.180331.111.
- Sica, Antonio, and Alberto Mantovani. 2012. "Macrophage Plasticity and Polarization: In Vivo Veritas." *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 122(3):787–95. doi: 10.1172/JCI59643.
- Siegel, Rebecca L., Kimberly D. Miller, Hannah E. Fuchs, and Ahmedin Jemal. 2022. "Cancer Statistics, 2022." CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians 72(1):7–33. doi: 10.3322/caac.21708.
- Silva, Corinne M. 2004. "Role of STATs as Downstream Signal Transducers in Src Family Kinase-Mediated Tumorigenesis." *Oncogene* 23(48):8017–23. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1208159.
- Smith, H. O., P. S. Anderson, D. Y. Kuo, G. L. Goldberg, C. L. DeVictoria, C. A. Boocock, J. G. Jones, C. D. Runowicz, E. R. Stanley, and J. W. Pollard. 1995. "The Role of Colony-Stimulating Factor 1 and Its Receptor in the Etiopathogenesis of Endometrial Adenocarcinoma." *Clinical Cancer Research: An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* 1(3):313–25.
- Stanley, E. R., L. J. Guilbert, R. J. Tushinski, and S. H. Bartelmez. 1983. "CSF-1—A Mononuclear Phagocyte Lineage-Specific Hemopoietic Growth Factor." *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry* 21(2):151–59. doi: 10.1002/jcb.240210206.
- Steinmetz, Michel O., and Andrea E. Prota. 2018. "Microtubule-Targeting Agents: Strategies To Hijack the Cytoskeleton." *Trends in Cell Biology* 28(10):776–92. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2018.05.001.
- Sun, Jiazhi, Michelle A. Blaskovich, Richard Jove, Sandra K. Livingston, Domenico Coppola, and Saïd M. Sebti. 2005. "Cucurbitacin Q: A Selective STAT3 Activation Inhibitor with Potent Antitumor Activity." Oncogene 24(20):3236–45. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1208470.

- Sung, Hyuna, Jacques Ferlay, Rebecca L. Siegel, Mathieu Laversanne, Isabelle Soerjomataram, Ahmedin Jemal, and Freddie Bray. 2021. "Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries." CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians 71(3):209–49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21660.
- Szefel, Jarosław, Aleksandra Danielak, and Wiesław Janusz Kruszewski. 2019. "Metabolic Pathways of L-Arginine and Therapeutic Consequences in Tumors." *Advances in Medical Sciences* 64(1):104–10. doi: 10.1016/j.advms.2018.08.018.
- Talmadge, James E. 2007. "Pathways Mediating the Expansion and Immunosuppressive Activity of Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells and Their Relevance to Cancer Therapy." *Clinical Cancer Research: An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* 13(18 Pt 1):5243–48. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-0182.
- Tannin-Spitz, Tehila, Shlomo Grossman, Sara Dovrat, Hugo E. Gottlieb, and Margalit Bergman. 2007. "Growth Inhibitory Activity of Cucurbitacin Glucosides Isolated from Citrullus Colocynthis on Human Breast Cancer Cells." *Biochemical Pharmacology* 73(1):56–67. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2006.09.012.
- Turkson, James, and Richard Jove. 2000. "STAT Proteins: Novel Molecular Targets for Cancer Drug Discovery." *Oncogene* 19(56):6613–26. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1204086.
- Umemura, Naoki, Masanao Saio, Tatsuhiko Suwa, Yusuke Kitoh, Juncheng Bai, Kenichi Nonaka, Guan-Feng Ouyang, Makoto Okada, Margit Balazs, Roza Adany, Toshiyuki Shibata, and Tsuyoshi Takami. 2008. "Tumor-Infiltrating Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells Are Pleiotropic-Inflamed Monocytes/Macrophages That Bear M1- and M2-Type Characteristics." *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 83(5):1136–44. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0907611.
- Valero, Juan Garcia, Alba Matas-Céspedes, Fabián Arenas, Vanina Rodriguez, Joaquim Carreras, Neus Serrat, Martina Guerrero-Hernández, Anella Yahiaoui, Olga Balagué, Silvia Martin, Cristina Capdevila, Lluis Hernández, Laura Magnano, Alfredo Rivas-Delgado, Stacey Tannheimer, Maria C. Cid, Elías Campo, Armando López-Guillermo, Dolors Colomer, and Patricia Pérez-Galán. 2021. "The Receptor of the Colony-Stimulating Factor-1 (CSF-1R) Is a Novel Prognostic Factor and Therapeutic Target in Follicular Lymphoma." *Leukemia* 35(9):2635–49. doi: 10.1038/s41375-021-01201-9.
- Vincent, Julie, Grégoire Mignot, Fanny Chalmin, Sylvain Ladoire, Mélanie Bruchard, Angélique Chevriaux, François Martin, Lionel Apetoh, Cédric Rébé, and François Ghiringhelli.
 2010. "5-Fluorouracil Selectively Kills Tumor-Associated Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells Resulting in Enhanced T Cell-Dependent Antitumor Immunity." *Cancer Research* 70(8):3052–61. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3690.
- Vitale, Ilio, Gwenola Manic, Lisa M. Coussens, Guido Kroemer, and Lorenzo Galluzzi. 2019. "Macrophages and Metabolism in the Tumor Microenvironment." *Cell Metabolism* 30(1):36–50. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2019.06.001.

- Wahl, Daniel R., and Theodore S. Lawrence. 2017. "Integrating Chemoradiation and Molecularly Targeted Therapy." *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 109:74–83. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2015.11.007.
- Wang, J. J., K. F. Lei, and F. Han. 2018. "Tumor Microenvironment: Recent Advances in Various Cancer Treatments." *European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences* 22(12):3855–64. doi: 10.26355/eurrev_201806_15270.
- Weber, Rebekka, Zeno Riester, Laura Hüser, Carsten Sticht, Alina Siebenmorgen, Christopher Groth, Xiaoying Hu, Peter Altevogt, Jochen S. Utikal, and Viktor Umansky. 2020. "IL-6 Regulates CCR5 Expression and Immunosuppressive Capacity of MDSC in Murine Melanoma." *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer* 8(2):e000949. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2020-000949.
- Wherry, E. John, Sang-Jun Ha, Susan M. Kaech, W. Nicholas Haining, Surojit Sarkar, Vandana Kalia, Shruti Subramaniam, Joseph N. Blattman, Daniel L. Barber, and Rafi Ahmed. 2007. "Molecular Signature of CD8+ T Cell Exhaustion during Chronic Viral Infection." *Immunity* 27(4):670–84. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.09.006.
- Wilkes, Gail M. 2018. "Targeted Therapy: Attacking Cancer with Molecular and Immunological Targeted Agents." Asia-Pacific Journal of Oncology Nursing 5(2):137–55. doi: 10.4103/apjon.apjon_79_17.
- Wolchok, Jedd D., Harriet Kluger, Margaret K. Callahan, Michael A. Postow, Naiyer A. Rizvi, Alexander M. Lesokhin, Neil H. Segal, Charlotte E. Ariyan, Ruth-Ann Gordon, Kathleen Reed, Matthew M. Burke, Anne Caldwell, Stephanie A. Kronenberg, Blessing U. Agunwamba, Xiaoling Zhang, Israel Lowy, Hector David Inzunza, William Feely, Christine E. Horak, Quan Hong, Alan J. Korman, Jon M. Wigginton, Ashok Gupta, and Mario Sznol. 2013. "Nivolumab plus Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma." *The New England Journal of Medicine* 369(2):122–33. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1302369.
- Wyld, Lynda, Riccardo A. Audisio, and Graeme J. Poston. 2015. "The Evolution of Cancer Surgery and Future Perspectives." *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology* 12(2):115–24. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2014.191.
- Xie, You-Li, Wen-Hui Tao, Ti-Xiong Yang, and Jian-Guo Qiao. 2016. "Anticancer Effect of Cucurbitacin B on MKN-45 Cells via Inhibition of the JAK2/STAT3 Signaling Pathway." *Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine* 12(4):2709–15. doi: 10.3892/etm.2016.3670.
- Xu, Jiaxin, Yunhe Chen, Rui Yang, Tong Zhou, Wei Ke, Yuan Si, Shusheng Yang, Te Zhang, Xuewen Liu, Liang Zhang, Ke Xiang, Yang Guo, and Ying Liu. 2020. "Cucurbitacin B Inhibits Gastric Cancer Progression by Suppressing STAT3 Activity." Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 684:108314. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2020.108314.
- Yang, Yiping. 2015. "Cancer Immunotherapy: Harnessing the Immune System to Battle Cancer." *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 125(9):3335–37. doi: 10.1172/JCI83871.

- Yap, Timothy A., Eileen E. Parkes, Weiyi Peng, Justin T. Moyers, Michael A. Curran, and Hussein A. Tawbi. 2021. "Development of Immunotherapy Combination Strategies in Cancer." *Cancer Discovery* 11(6):1368–97. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-20-1209.
- Yu, Hua, and Richard Jove. 2004. "The STATs of Cancer New Molecular Targets Come of Age." *Nature Reviews Cancer* 4(2):97–105. doi: 10.1038/nrc1275.
- Yuan, Renyikun, Qiumei Fan, Xiaowei Liang, Shan Han, Jia He, Qin-Qin Wang, Hongwei Gao, Yulin Feng, and Shilin Yang. 2022. "Cucurbitacin B Inhibits TGF-B1-Induced Epithelial–Mesenchymal Transition (EMT) in NSCLC through Regulating ROS and PI3K/Akt/MTOR Pathways." *Chinese Medicine* 17:24. doi: 10.1186/s13020-022-00581z.
- Zhou, Jingkai, Tiangang Zhao, Linfeng Ma, Min Liang, Ying-Jie Guo, and Li-Mei Zhao. 2017. "Cucurbitacin B and SCH772984 Exhibit Synergistic Anti-Pancreatic Cancer Activities by Suppressing EGFR, PI3K/Akt/MTOR, STAT3 and ERK Signaling." Oncotarget 8(61):103167–81. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.21704.
- Zhou, Xueying, Jiao Yang, Yanli Wang, Wen Li, Jesse Li-Ling, Yihui Deng, and Meixia Zhang. 2012. "Cucurbitacin B Inhibits 12-O-Tetradecanoylphorbol 13-Acetate-Induced Invasion and Migration of Human Hepatoma Cells through Inactivating Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase and PI3K/Akt Signal Transduction Pathways." *Hepatology Research* 42(4):401–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1872-034X.2011.00933.x.
- Zou, Sailan, Qiyu Tong, Bowen Liu, Wei Huang, Yan Tian, and Xianghui Fu. 2020. "Targeting STAT3 in Cancer Immunotherapy." *Molecular Cancer* 19:145. doi: 10.1186/s12943-020-01258-7.

APPENDIX A
APPENDIX A

Item	Manufacturer	Catalogue/Item No.
Cucurbitacin B	Cayman Chemical	14820
GMCSF	Sigma	SRP3201
MCSF	Sigma	M9170
Mouse II-6 Recombinant protein	Invitrogen	RMIL61
Mouse II-4 Recombinant protein	Sigma	SRP3211
TRIzol Reagent	Life technologies	399612
RIPA Lysis Buffer System	Sant cruz Biotechnology	24948A
FBS	Life Technologies	10437-028
RPMI Media	Life Technologies	1187-093
Antibiotic-Antimycotic	Life Technologies	15240-062
0.25% Trypsin-EDTA	Life Technologies	25200-056
PBS	Life Technologies	10010-023
Accutase Solution	Sigma	A6964
HEPES Solution	Sigma	SRE 0065
RBC lysing buffer	Sigma	R7757
L-Glutamine	Sigma	TMS-002-C
TRIzol	Life Technologies	15596018
Vybrant Phagocytosis Assay	ThermoFischer Scientific	V6694

Table 2: List of items with their respective manufacturers and catalogue numbers

Abbreviations

TAM	Tumor Associated Macrophages
MDSC	Myeloid Derived Suppressor Cells
Cuc. B	Cucurbitacin B
PDL-1	Programmed death ligand 1
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte
TME	Tumor microenvironment
CTLA-4	The cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen-4
PD1	Programmed Death 1
PDL1	Programmed death ligand1
GM-CSF	granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
CAF	Cancer-associated Fibroblasts
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
EGF	Epidermal growth factors

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

Emmanuel Anning (Pharm.D.) is a Graduate of the University of Texas Rio Grande Valley (UTRGV) with a degree in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology (July 2022). He worked as a graduate research assistant in the department of Immunology and Microbiology, School of Medicine at the University of Texas Rio Grande Valley in Dr. Bilal Hafeez's lab during his graduate studies at UTRGV. He had his 6-year undergraduate professional Doctor of Pharmacy (Pharm.D.) degree at the Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology (KNUST), Kumasi, Ghana in June 2019. Prior to his Master's degree, he was a Graduate Teaching Assistant at the Department of Pharmacology at the Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology, Kumasi, Ghana, where he also worked as a hospital pharmacist at the University's hospital.

His keen interest in translational clinical research propelled him to pursue a 2-year Master's degree in Biochemistry and Molecular Science at the University of Texas, Rio Grande Valley, after which he gained admission into Baylor College of Medicine to pursue a PhD in Biomedical Sciences with a concentration in Chemical, Physical and Structural Biology. Dr Anning's areas of research interest includes cancer therapy, natural product drug discovery, pharmacology and toxicology. He can be contacted *via* email at anningemmanuel18@gmail.com